INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT OF BROMUS $SPECIES \ \ IN \ GRAIN \ \ ONLY \ \ WINTER \ \ WHEAT$ PRODUCTION OF THE SOUTHERN GREAT PLAINS

By

HANNAH CAROL LINDELL

Bachelor of Science in Agricultural Food Systems

Washington State University

Pullman, WA

2019

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December, 2021

INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT OF BROMUS $SPECIES \ \ IN \ GRAIN \ \ ONLY \ WINTER \ WHEAT$ PRODUCTION OF THE SOUTHERN GREAT PLAINS

| Thesis Approved: |
|----------------------|
| Dr. Misha Manuchehri |
| Thesis Advisor |
| Dr. Emi Kimura |
| Dr. Todd Baughman |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Throughout the writing and hands-on endeavor of this thesis and research, I have received a great deal of support and assistance.

I would like to begin acknowledging my advisor Dr. Misha Manuchehri. Thank you for your insight, guidance, patience, and support that urged me to learn something new about weed science and myself every day. It was her constant consideration, not only for my wellbeing, but my future aspirations that encouraged me to pursue a career in weed science. She positively is a person of her own essence that puts her apart from any other advisors at Oklahoma State University. I am grateful to have been one of her graduate students.

I would also like to acknowledge my committee members Dr. Todd Baughman and Dr. Emi Kimura. Thank you, Dr. Baughman for your time and dedication in helping me succeed. Thank you, Dr. Kimura for your advice and help at Thornberry, Texas location. Thanks to the both of you for your support and respect throughout these past two years. Furthermore, thank you to Dr. Brett Carver for your insight on wheat cultivar selection. My field trail hypotheses would not have been achievable without you.

The Small Grains Weeds Lab would not have been as gratifying if it weren't for my fellow coworkers that I consider friends: Caitlyn Carnahan, Tanner Childers, and Lane Newlin. Thank you for giving me so many unique-fond memories that I will turn back to look on for years to pass. Thank you for your help with my projects, and the

nitty-gritty, while also enlightening me in your own. Thank you also to undergraduate workers that truly hold this program together: Blain Ball, Ethan and Eric Moreau, Jarrett Selman, Deacon Burleson, Jamie Driskill and Kalyn Flaharty

My field trials would not have been feasible if it weren't for the lending support of Gary Strickland and David Victor at Oklahoma Agricultural Experiment Stations in Tipton and Lahoma, Oklahoma. As well as local producers, Dean Fuxa of Marshall, Oklahoma, William Lalk of Burkburnett, Texas, and Allen Eastman of Thornberry, Texas. I thank them for their genuine support and allowing the use of their land. Thank you to the Oklahoma State University Plant and Soil Sciences Department, the Oklahoma Wheat Research Foundation, Oklahoma Wheat Commission, and USDA-NIFA-CARE Grant13081905 for supporting my research.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for constantly supporting me from 1,300+ miles away. My mother and father, Carol and Timothy, my siblings, Rachel, Jarrod and Aaron, and my dearest friends from near and far. Thank you from the bottom of my heart for being there every step of the way. And lasty, thank you to Oklahoma State University for all the life-long friendships I have gained.

Name: HANNAH CAROL LINDELL

Date of Degree: DECEMBER, 2021

Title of Study: INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT OF BROMUS SPECIES IN GRAIN

ONLY WINTER WHEAT PRODUCTION OF THE SOUTHERN

GREAT PLAINS

Major Field: PLANT AND SOIL SCIENCES

Abstract: Bromus spp. including rescuegrass, cheat, and downy brome are difficult to manage winter annual grass weeds in southern Great Plains winter wheat. Producers can manage Bromus spp. in herbicide-tolerant wheat, but control in non-herbicide tolerant wheat often is poor. Studies evaluating *Bromus spp.* management using a combination of planting date delay, competitive wheat cultivar selection, and two common herbicides, were conducted throughout Oklahoma and Texas in 2019-2020 and 2020-2021. Visual Bromus spp. control was evaluated eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment, collection of *Bromus spp.* and wheat biomass at heading, wheat head counts, and grain yield. Herbicide treatment decreased *Bromus spp.* biomass at five of the eight site years. Pyroxsulam at Marshall 2020 reduced rescuegrass biomass 80% compared to sulfosulfuron and nontreated check. Sulfosulfuron at Tipton 2020 and 2021, and Burkburnett 2020 reduced rescuegrass biomass 93%, 77%, and 75%, respectively, compared to nontreated. Pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron reduced biomass of downy brome and cheat 98% compared to nontreated at Lahoma 2021. Delaying planting date reduced Bromus spp. biomass by 51%, 73%, and 87% at Marshall 2020 and 2021, and Lahoma 2021, respectively, compared to the optimal timing. A planting date by herbicide interaction occurred only at Burkburnett 2020. Herbicide treatment following the optimal and mid-planting dates reduced downy brome biomass by 86% and 94%, respectively, compared to nontreated. For grain yield, planting date affected Tipton 2020 and 2021, and Lahoma 2020. The late planting date resulted in 18%, 46%, and 21% less grain, respectively, than the optimal timing. For both years at Marshall, herbicide treatment affected grain yield. Pyroxsulam and nontreated treatments produced the least amount of grain for 2020 (~3,115 kg ha⁻¹) compared to sulfosulfuron, and pyroxsulam reduced 2021 yield 11% compared to nontreated. Herbicide treatment also increased Tipton 2020 yield ~9% compared to nontreated. Relative to planting date by cultivar interaction, cultivar yield varied at location across four site years as delayed planting decreased yield. Overall, herbicide treatments and/or a delay in planting by two to six weeks after the optimal timing provided a reduction in *Bromus spp.* biomass but resulted in decreased wheat biomass and grain yield.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Chapter | Page |
|---|------|
| I. LITERATURE REVIEW | 1 |
| Winter Wheat Production | 1 |
| Bromus Biology | 3 |
| Prevention | |
| Management | |
| Cultural Weed Control | |
| Crop Rotation | |
| Planting Date and Cultivar Selection | 9 |
| Fertility Management | |
| Chemical Control | |
| Literature Cited | |
| II. INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT OF <i>BROMUS SPECIES</i> IN GRAIN ONLY WINTER WHEAT PRODUCTION IN THE SOUTHERN GREAT PLAINS | _ |
| Introduction | 24 |
| Material and Methods | 27 |
| Study Area | 27 |
| Field Trial Design and Method | |
| Weed Control, Biomass Measurements, and Grain Yield | 29 |
| Statistical Analysis | |
| Results and Discussion | 31 |
| Marshall and Tipton | 31 |
| Lahoma | 38 |
| Burkburnett and Thornberry | 41 |
| Literature Cited | |
| Tables | 51 |

| Chapter | Page |
|------------|------|
| | |
| | |
| APPENDICES | 77 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Tabl | le Page |
|------|---|
| 2.1. | Monthly average weather data at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK, and |
| | Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season51 |
| 2.2. | Monthly average weather data at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK, and |
| | Thornberry, TX during the 2020-21 winter wheat growing season |
| 2.3. | Agronomic practices at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and |
| | Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.53 |
| 2.4. | Visual control ratings and stand counts of Bromus spp., as well as crop and weed |
| | biomass collection dates at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and |
| | Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.55 |
| 2.5. | ANOVA table for Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and |
| | Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing season57 |
| 2.6. | Visual control of rescuegrass eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment for |
| | Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing |
| | seasons |
| 2.7. | Rescuegrass biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 m ⁻²) at Marshall and Tipton, OK |
| | during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons |

| 2.8 Winter wheat biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 m ⁻²) at Marshall and Tipton, OK |
|---|
| during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons63 |
| 2.9. Winter wheat head counts (0.25 m ⁻² quadrat) for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the |
| 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons |
| 2.10. Grain yield (kg ha ⁻¹) for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 |
| winter wheat growing seasons |
| 2.11. Visual control of downy brome and cheat eight to nine weeks after herbicide |
| treatment for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing |
| seasons67 |
| 2.12. Winter wheat, downy brome, and cheat biomass collected at heading $(g\ 0.25\ m^{-2})$ at |
| Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons68 |
| 2.13. Grain yield (kg ha ⁻¹) for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat |
| growing seasons |
| 2.14. Visual control of <i>Bromus</i> spp. eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment for |
| Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season72 |
| 2.15. Winter wheat, rescuegrass, and downy brome biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 |
| m ⁻²) at Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season73 |
| 2.16. Winter wheat head counts (0.25 m ⁻² quadrat) for Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX |
| during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons |

| 2.17. Grain yield (kg ha ⁻¹) for Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and | |
|--|--|
| 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons | |
| A.1. Visual control of rescuegrass four to six weeks after herbicide treatment for | |
| Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing | |
| seasons | |
| A.2. Visual control of rescuegrass at harvest for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the | |
| 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons | |
| A.3. Rescuegrass stand count (0.10 m ⁻²) four to six weeks after herbicide treatment at | |
| Marshall and Tipton, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons | |
| 81 | |
| A.4. Rescuegrass stand count (0.10 m ⁻²) eight to nine weeks after treatment at Marshall | |
| and Tipton, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons83 | |
| A.5. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019- | |
| 20 winter wheat growing season | |
| A.6. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2020- | |
| 21 winter wheat growing season | |
| A.7. Visual control of downy brome and cheat four to six weeks after treatment for | |
| Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons88 | |

| A.8. Downy brome and cheat stand count (0.10 m ⁻²) four to six weeks after treatment at |
|--|
| Lahoma, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons90 |
| A.9. Downy brome and cheat stand count (0.10 m ⁻²) eight to nine weeks after treatment at |
| Lahoma, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons91 |
| A.10. Winter wheat head counts (0.25 m ⁻² quadrat) for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 |
| and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons |
| A.11. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Lahoma, OK during the 2020-21 winter |
| wheat growing season |
| A.12. Visual control of <i>Bromus spp</i> . four to six weeks after treatment for Burkburnett, |
| TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season |
| A.13. Bromus spp. stand count (0.10 m ⁻²) four to six weeks after treatment at Burkburnett |
| and Thornberry, TX for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons99 |
| A.14. Bromus spp. stand count (0.10 m ⁻²) eight to nine weeks after treatment at |
| Burkburnett, TX for 2019-20 winter wheat growing season |
| A.15. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 |
| winter wheat growing seasons |

CHAPTER I

LITERATURE REVIEW

Winter Wheat Production

Winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) is the number one agricultural production commodity in Oklahoma, ranking third in the United States with approximately 1.69 to 1.78 million ha sown in the past three years. In 2021, 1.2 million ha was harvested for grain only production with an average yield of 2,620 kg ha⁻¹ (NASS USDA 2021a). In 2020, 1.72 million ha were planted for all purposes with 1.05 million ha harvested for grain (NASS USDA 2020a). The top three cultivars harvested in 2020 and 2021 in Oklahoma were Gallagher, Smith's Gold, and Doublestop CL Plus (NASS USDA 2021b). Winter wheat production in Texas ranks the state at number two in the United States with 1.82 to 2.23 million ha sown in the past three years (NASS USDA 2021a). Approximately 810,000 ha were harvest in 2021 with an average yield of 2,490 kg ha⁻¹, and roughly 829,000 ha were harvested in 2020 with a yield of 2,017 kg ha⁻¹. Of those hectares harvested during 2019 and 2020, Gallagher, TAM 111, TAM 112, and TAM 114 were the top four cultivars planted in Texas (NASS USDA 2020c).

Winter wheat production in Oklahoma and Texas is unique, as many systems utilize the crop for forage and/or grain. Dual-purpose systems increase the diversity of a producer's income for the year by grazing wheat with cattle through the winter, removing cattle in late winter, and then harvesting for grain in the summer. Dual-purpose producers in Oklahoma commonly sow wheat from late August to mid-September and can be sown as late as December (Krenzer 2021). Whereas grain only production planting occurs from mid-October to November with harvest occurring in mid-June (Lollato 2017). Dualpurpose Texas Rolling Plains producers begin sowing from September to early-October, while grain only sowing occurs from October to early December (Darapuneni 2016). However, grain only producers generally sow from October to early November for highest yields (Kimura et al. 2017; Morgan 2011). Because of the diversity in income winter wheat offers Oklahoma and Texas, many producers use continuous wheat systems, growing wheat in the same field year after year. These monoculture systems fail to break up pest cycles and increase selection pressure for herbicide resistant weed biotypes that can quickly take over fields; thus, creating ecological and economic loss (Glowicka-Woloszyn et al. 2020; Wozniak 2019). For example, Bromus species (spp.) are adapted to winter annual grass crops like monoculture wheat systems and production practices in the region support their ability to thrive.

Winter annual grasses, such as *Bromus spp*. compete with regionally adapted wheat cultivars, resulting in reduced forage and grain yield and quality. During optimum wheat planting periods, especially for forage or dual-purpose wheat, prime germination for winter annual grass weed *spp*. also occur. This creates a challenge for many wheat producers in the southern Great Plains of Oklahoma and the Rolling Plains region of

Texas. While there are effective herbicide options for some annual grass weed *spp*., herbicide resistant weed biotypes have increased over the years due to increases in selection pressure. An increase in selection pressure is partly attributed to decreased cultural and mechanical weed control and overuse of single herbicide active ingredients and sites of action, which is enhanced with the use of herbicide tolerant wheat and monoculture practices. Additionally, several *Bromus spp*. are not herbicide resistant but are herbicide tolerant, meaning that they simply respond poorly to herbicides.

Bromus Biology

The grass family *Poaceae* are highly influential as a source of food around the world consisting of nearly 785 genera and 250,000 *spp*.; approximately 11,000 *spp*. being weeds (Chen et al. 2006; Watson and Dallwitz 1992). With *Poaceae* mainly characterized with abundant genetic makeup and adaptability from one *spp*. to the next, invasive grass weed *spp*. are recognized as major ecosystem-altering species (Kern et al. 2020). In agriculture, *Bromus spp*. cause losses in grain and forage yields, delayed harvesting operations, additional seed cleaning expenses, and grain quality discounts such as dockage and/or foreign material. When *Bromus* seed remains, dockage in harvested grain can exceed 40% and can cause difficulty in marketing (Ratlilff and Peeper 1987).

Bromus is a large genus of cool-season grass spp. with as many as 160 documented annuals and perennials (Acedo and Llamas 2001; Fortune et al. 2008). From those documented spp., most cool-season annual grasses are found in winter cropping systems, rangelands, and pastures within the southern Great Plains; seeding in late summer and germinating in fall. Cool-season annual grasses require a temperature between 10-20°C for optimum germination; with a reduction in germination at

temperatures above 25°C (Butler et al. 2017). *Bromus* seedlings also have higher tolerance to cold conditions with rapid growth response to warm temperatures following germination (Griffith et al., 2014). Under rare circumstances, germination of *Bromus spp*. such as downy brome (*Bromus tectorum* L.) may occur in the spring while other winter annual grass *spp*. are already established (Menalled et al. 2008).

Immediate control and removal of *Bromus spp.* can be correlated to reduced competition and higher crop yield response (Ratliff 1985). Cheat (*Bromus secalinus*) primarily found in eastern hard red winter wheat producing areas, and downy brome in western parts of the United States, have been the most common, difficult-to-control *Bromus spp.* of the southern Great Plains in past years (Driver et al. 1993; Peeper 1984). Downy brome, a highly competitive cool-season annual weed, grows actively throughout fall and winter, initiating early growth in spring after overwintering, dwindling resources for winter crops (Menalled et al. 2008). Similar growth habits are observed for cheat, which at one time was documented to infest approximately 1.4 million hectares of harvested winter wheat in Oklahoma (Ratliff and Peeper 1987). Cheat can cause yield reductions up to 19% at a density of 89 plant m⁻² (Fast et al. 2009). Similarly, Stahlman and Miller (1990) observed a yield reduction of up to 20% from 65 downy brome plants per m². Infestation of winter annual grasses such as *Bromus spp.* can be the difference between profit and loss especially during low price wheat years.

Two other economically critical *Bromus spp*. in the region are Japanese brome (*Bromus japonicus* Houtt.), and rescuegrass (*Bromus catharticus* Vahl.). Rescuegrass has recently become one of the most difficult to-manage grasses in winter wheat within the southern Great Plains. Producers have claimed yield losses up to 50 and 70% and have

noticed increasing price discounts at the elevator due to rescuegrass infestations.

Rescuegrass competes with crops by germinating first thus maturing earlier than other winter *Bromus spp.*, reducing crop yield and quality in dual-purpose and grain only systems. Additionally, rescuegrass responds poorly to herbicides.

Although rescuegrass is one of the most relevant *Bromus spp.* in Oklahoma and north Texas today, little literature on rescuegrass biology has been published due to most research looking at cheat and downy brome impacts on crop-weed competition.

Introduced in the United States around the early 1800s from Argentina as a weak perennial grazing grass (Trew 1957), rescuegrass maximum emergence occurs from mid-September to mid-October (Djibril et al. 1985). Under favorable conditions, a single native rescuegrass panicle can produce an estimated 379 seeds (Abbott et al. 2007).

Prevention

Producers in the southern Great Plains can reduce the presence of persistent weed populations within their systems by taking preventative actions. One key option producers can use to stop weed infestations from occurring in predominantly clean fields at the beginning of the season is to sow weed-free seed. Weed infested crop seed can cause issues in winter wheat systems and create long-term problems, requiring intensive control methods. Purchase and use of weed-free seed from a certified seed retailer is highly recommended for prevention or reinfestation of *Bromus spp.* into fields.

At harvest, weed seed is mature and can be transported and dispersed along ditches and within fields when lodged in equipment. Producers can decrease the probability of spreading weed *spp*. into a clean field by sanitizing tillage and harvest equipment used in a heavily infested field. Producers can properly clean equipment by (1)

removing loose residue that has attached or lodged itself to the equipment, (2) blowing off any small foreign material with an air compressor, and (3) pressure washing entire equipment implements after every use in a new field (Bopp 2012). On the other hand, producers in the region often hire out custom harvesters in hopes to efficiently harvest all acres of wheat before wheat is no longer within that prime quality threshold. Custom harvesters offer producers the ability of an income increase (Sahs and Bir 2020) but does not assure clean equipment from one job to the next. One method to employ with custom harvesters is to harvest clean fields first, harvesting weed infested fields last.

Further attentive preventative actions such as keeping irrigation lines and channels clean prevent increases in introduced weed *spp*. to clean fields. Dastgheib (1989) discovered weed seeds ability to successfully germinate after drifting through irrigation equipment, rivers, streams, and drainage channels for long distances.

Additionally, since animals can transport weed seeds, not allowing livestock to graze from infested fields and move onto cleaner fields can prevent spread of new or resistant weed *spp*. (Manuchehri et al. 2021).

Plants that survive inadequate management pass on genetic resistance from generation to generation causing selection for mutant genotypes (Powles and Shaner 2001). Continuous, non-integrated management practices do not suffice and will result in resistant *spp*. reproducing in fields, likely not being detected until their populations reach 30% of total weed populations (Mahmood 2014). Recommendations to producers to continuously scout fields, identify any new weed emergence or resistance, as well as avoid consecutive applications of one herbicide in a single growing season is vital.

Management

Rescuegrass and other *Bromus spp.* pose a threat for continuous winter wheat systems that struggle to compete with weeds for essential nutrients. Early growth habits of *Bromus spp.*, particularly rescuegrass, can cause winter wheat to undergo early stress related growth. Thorough use of integrated management tactics such as cultural, chemical, and mechanical methods can adequately control and/or suppress weed populations without harm to producers on an economic and environmental level (Neely et al. 2016). In the Pacific Northwest, wheat systems with intense weed management methods such as an application of a herbicide with a high rate of nitrogen have been correlated to increased weed control and wheat yield (Young et al. 1994).

Weed management strategies that incorporate multiple integrated tactics sufficiently aid in control of *Bromus spp*. but have not yet been optimized. Integrating multiple practices, such as delaying planting of winter wheat, careful selection of a competitive wheat cultivar, and proper use of an effective herbicide can provide long-term weed management of *Bromus spp*. Ample weed control also may reduce dockage and increase grain yield (Ratliff and Peeper 1987). Integrated management also can be altered year after year which can restrict selection pressure and weed resistance from occurring and obtaining highly sustainable field conditions (Harker and O'Donovan. 2013). Producers can then begin to use other mechanical, cultural, and chemical methods to prolong *Bromus spp*. management and feasibly prevent further selection pressure.

Cultural Weed Control

Crop Rotation

Crop rotation practices in continuous winter wheat systems are not commonly utilized in Oklahoma and north Texas but will allow improved weed management in the long-run by breaking up pest cycles, including weeds. Common summer crops producers can rotate to include corn (Zea mays L.), sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench ssp. Bicolor), soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merr.], sesame (Sesamum indicum L.), cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.), and sometimes canola (Brassica napus L.) in the southern Great Plains (Bushong et al. 2011; Manuchehri et al. 2021). Rotation of crops from a winter annual to a summer annual not only break up weed cycles but also support the use of different herbicide sites of action. For example, winter canola is sometimes used in winter wheat rotations as it allows the use of sethoxydim, clethodim, and quizalofop-Pethyl (quizalofop) to manage *Bromus* seedlings (Lyon et al. 2015). Lyon et al. (2015) examined the effect of *Bromus spp.* following summer crop rotations over multiple years after winter wheat in the Pacific Northwest and found that summer systems disrupt growth patterns and deplete overall *Bromus spp.* in the soil seed bank. When favorable growing conditions are disrupted and seedbanks are reduced, producers can more easily control and reduce *Bromus spp.* populations.

Weed *spp*. are distinguished by their ability to evolve rapidly to their environment and circumstances. Diverse crop rotations can further prevent weed selection pressure by allowing various planting dates and competitive cultivar selection. Later planted summer crops allow enough time for adequate *Bromus spp*. emergence and growth during spring months to be managed with nonselective herbicides or tillage (Lyon et al. 2015). For

example, conventionally tilled double-crop grain sorghum immediately after wheat harvest, followed by soybean planted in April reduced dockage of cheat by 78 and 87% and increased subsequential wheat yield by 32 and 42% in Billings and Ponca City, OK (Stone et al. 2006).

Planting Date and Cultivar Selection

Competition for essential growth factors between crop and weed *spp*. are correlated to overall crop fitness (van Heemst 1985). Early emerging *Bromus spp*., such as rescuegrass are more aggressive than other weed *spp*. as they compete with wheat during its critical weed free period, which takes place for several weeks immediately after sowing (Welsh 1999). *Bromus spp*. emerging later in the winter wheat growing season has significantly less effect on wheat yield due to shade (Blackshaw 1993). When *Bromus spp*. populations are managed prior to planting, fewer plants will emerge and compete with wheat in-season.

Early sown wheat requires intensive weed management for the majority of *Bromus spp.* that emerge simultaneously. Whereas late planted wheat holds opportunity for partial management of *Bromus spp.* prior to planting with the use of tillage or a non-selective herbicide. Less *Bromus spp.* throughout the growing season results in more effective herbicide treatments, increased yield, and little contaminated seed at harvest. Over time, producers would require less aggressive control methods due to fewer *Bromus spp.* in the soil seedbank. A study conducted in Pakistan looking at planting delay in wheat identified weed biomass and density was significantly reduced following late sown wheat on December 15 compared to an October 15 planting date (Subhan 2003).

However, planting too late may result in emergence of wheat before harsh cold fronts, killing off seedlings before green-up takes place (Barrett 1978). Conversely, in Texas, early sown wheat has been revealed to break winter dormancy earlier in spring, resulting in greater potential for late spring freeze injury (Miller 1992). Planting date of wheat may also effect severity of pathogen infestation and injury to crop. Winter wheat yield response to planting date and spring inoculation of wheat streak mosaic rymovirus (WSMV) in Stillwater, OK detected decreased yield and increased symptoms of WSMV in November sown wheat compared to August and October due to maturity stage of crop (Hunger et al 1992). Producers must determine a planting date that will result in adequate growing conditions without yield loss occurring. The selection of an early-maturing wheat cultivar may salvage wheat yields when a delay in planting is used as a weed management strategy.

Over the years, wheat breeders have genetically bred wheat cultivars to be hardier against pests. Cultivars also have been bred for vigorous vegetative growth to support the use of dual-purpose systems in Oklahoma and Texas. Early canopy coverage is not only beneficial for winter forage but also suppressed early emerging weeds. Selection of a competitive wheat cultivar with vigorous canopy coverage characteristics achieves competitive fitness of crop with *Bromus spp*. (Mwendwa et al. 2020).

Fertility Management

Soil fertility management is another key practice producers can use in the southern Great Plains to ensure competitive crops against weeds. Nitrogen (N) and Phosphorus (P) are essential for plant growth and help determine a plant's ability to produce strong root structures, photosynthesize, and efficiently uptake water and

nutrients (Li et al. 2003). Alternative methods of weed control using N in wheat have been evaluated by various researchers in the southern Great Plains. Sexsmith and Pittman (1963) discovered that an early spring application of N during a fallow season increased germination of wild oat, reducing the amount of available seed for the next season. After similar findings, Phillips et al. (1999) applied urea ammonium nitrate (UAN) at an average rate of 6.7 lb. N acre⁻¹ on wheat beginning to flower and before cheat began to flower, discovering cheat seed reduced by 54.9%. Exploration of N application rates of 34, 67, and 101 kg N ha⁻¹ on winter wheat to suppress grass weed species barnyardgrass [*Echinochloa crus-galli* (L.) P. Beauv.] and green foxtail [*Setaria viridis* (L.) P Beauv.] in North Platte, Nebraska observed a decrease in overall weed yield as N rates increased (Valenti and Wicks 1992).

Soil characteristics play a key role in the types of a *Bromus spp*. found in specific regions. Under high soil moisture conditions, downy brome growth patterns can be altered by the change in N, P, and potassium (K) (Belnap et al. 2016). Specific soil pH levels also can increase winter wheat's ability to better compete with *Bromus spp*. via herbicide-soil residual interaction. For example, sulfonylurea herbicides may have a higher chance of weed control in alkaline soils compared to acidic soils due to slower herbicide degradation at higher pH levels (Brown 1990; Driver et al. 1993)

Chemical Weed Control

Most products labelled and used for grass weed control in Oklahoma and Texas winter wheat are acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitors. Application of an ALS in the fall, when plants are rapidly growing, is the most common and practical herbicide site of action used in winter wheat (Reddy et al. 2013). ALS herbicides pyroxsulam,

propoxycarbazone-sodium, and sulfosulfuron provided successful downy brome control in northwest Kansas when applied in the fall (Reddy et al. 2013). The same study discovered little to no crop injury or effect on grain yield. Blackshaw and Hamman (1998) and Geier et al. (2011) also recommended an ALS herbicide is most sufficient when sprayed POST in the fall compared to spring for control of *Bromus spp*. The use of an ALS inhibiting herbicide may support successful rescuegrass and other *Bromus spp*. control, but it is a short-term management option that will increase selection pressure of resistant biotypes when used continuously and not integrated with other strategies. Even though grass weed *spp*. may show symptoms of stunting of new leaf development after treatment of an ALS herbicide, they can sometimes still produce viable seed at maturity, especially if applied later than the desired fall application window (UC IPM 2021).

Metribuzin, a photosystems II inhibitor (WSSA Group 5), is another herbicide option producers can use. Durutan (1975) conducted a study to evaluate metribuzin application timing in winter wheat in Oregon and concluded that metribuzin applied at the 3- to 4-tiller stage provided the highest wheat yield along with the greatest cheat control out of five application timings (PRE, one leaf, three leaf-tillering, three to four tiller, and early joint). They also found that PRE and at spike applications caused the most damage to wheat, anywhere from 15 to 37% injury. Experiments conducted in Oklahoma indicated hard red winter wheat cultivars had reduced stand up to 45% when metribuzin was applied in the spring, between tillering and jointing, at 0.6 kg ha⁻¹ and reduced yield up to 75% when applied at 1.1 kg ha⁻¹ (Runyan et al. 1982). The use of herbicides for control of rescuegrass and other *Bromus spp.* is an important tool; however, selection of appropriate herbicides is vital. Moreover, rotation of herbicide

active ingredients and sites of action is critical to reducing selection pressure for herbicide resistance.

Herbicide resistance is a challenge when it comes to current herbicide options. As early as 2009, Oklahoma documented cross-resistant cheat to all ALS herbicides including imazamox, propoxycarbazone-sodium, pyroxsulam, and sulfosulfuron (Heap 2021a). In the United States, no rescuegrass biotypes have been documented to be herbicide resistant. However, biotypes resistant to the EPSP synthase inhibitor, glyphosate (WSSA Group 9), were first reported in Buenos Aires, Argentina in 2017 (Heap 2021b; Yanniccari et al 2021). Multiple resistant downy brome biotypes to acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACCase, WSSA Group 1) inhibitors, ALS inhibitors, and photosystem II inhibitors have been reported in Oregon under intense crop production (Park and Mallory-Smith 2005). Japanese brome biotypes resistant to ALS herbicides imazamox, propoxycarbazone-sodium, pyroxsulam, and sulfosulfuron also have been documented in Kansas (Heap 2021c).

Herbicide-tolerant winter wheat systems such as CoAXium® and Clearfield® currently provide control of many *Bromus spp*. Clearfield® winter wheat cultivars are tolerant to Group 2 herbicide, imazamox, which controls or suppresses over 50 broadleaf weeds and over 30 grassy weeds (Anonymous 2019). CoAXium® wheat cultivars that contain the AXigen trait, a wheat system recently developed by the Colorado Wheat Research Foundation, Albaugh Chemical, and Limagrain, are tolerant to the Group 1 herbicide, quizalofop, which controls and/or suppresses many grass weed *spp*. CoAXium® and Clearfield® systems allow producers to control many grass weeds with a single application in the fall or spring or a split application in the fall and spring.

With recent documentation of Group 2 resistant cheat in Oklahoma, imazamox used in Clearfield® systems is now ineffective, leaving wheat growers with only one option – to spray quizalofop in CoAXium® wheat. Except for WSSA group 1 resistant Italian ryegrass (Heap 2021d), quizalofop herbicide is efficacious on most winter annual grasses in the southern Great Plains (Vipan et al. 2020), including *Bromus spp*. However, crop tolerance has been a challenge, especially following late spring applications in Oklahoma. Finally, without proper stewardship, development of herbicide resistant biotypes other winter annual grasses to quizalofop will occur. Therefore, it is critical this system is used for less than two consecutive seasons and is integrated with other weed management tools.

The lack of consistent, effective management strategies for *Bromus spp.*, especially rescuegrass, is a serious production problem facing many southern Great Plains winter wheat producers. Although there are some herbicides that offer short-term solutions, long-term and integrated strategies are needed for sustainable and profitable wheat production in the southern Great Plains. To improve management of rescuegrass and other *Bromus spp.* in the southern Great Plains, a study was conducted at four locations in Oklahoma and Texas to evaluate the impact of cultivar selection, planting date, and herbicide treatment on *Bromus spp.* populations.

Literature Cited

- Abbott LA, Pistorale SM, and Filippini OS (2007) Path coefficient analysis for seed yield in *Bromus catharticus*. Cien Inv Agr 34:107-114
- Acedo C, Llamas F (2001) Variation of micromorphological characters of lemma and palea in the genus *Bromus* (Poaceae). Annales Botanici Fennici 38:1-14
- Anonymous (2019) Beyond® herbicide product label. BASF Corporation No. 241-441.

 Research Triangle Park, NC: BASF 24 p
- Barrett SW (1978) Response of five winter wheat cultivars to three seeding rates and six planting dates. Master's thesis. Stillwater, OK: Oklahoma State University. 61 p
- Belnap J, Stark JM, Rau BM, Allen EB, Phillips S (2016) Soil moisture and biogeochemical factors influence the distribution of annual *Bromus* species. Pages 227-256 *in* Exotic Brome-Grasses in Arid and Semiarid Ecosystems of the Western US, ed. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing
- Blackshaw RE (1993) Downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) density and relative time of emergence affects interference in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Weed Sci 41:551-556

- Blackshaw RE, Hamman WM (1998) Control of (Bromus tectorum) in winter wheat (Triticum aestivum) with MON 37500. Weed Technol 12:421-425
- Bopp S (2012) Clean Machines. Syngenta Basel, Switzerland: Syngenta, 6 p
- Brown HM (1990) Mode of action, crop selectivity, and soil relations of the sulfonylurea herbicides. Pestic Sci 29:263-281
- Bushong J, Peeper T, Boyles M, Stone A (2011) Italian ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*), feral cereal rye (*Secale cereale*), and volunteer wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) control in winter canola. Weed Technol 25:344-349
- Butler TJ, Ahmet CE, Webb SL, Krstic DB, Interrante SM (2017) Germination in coolseason forage grasses under a range of temperatures. Crop Sci 57:1725-1731
- Chen CH, Kuoh CS (2006) Setaria sphacelata (Schumach.) Moss ex Stapf & Hubb., a grass newly naturalized to Taiwan. Endemic Species Research 8:83-86
- Darapuneni MK, Morgan GD, Shaffer OJ, Dodia S (2016) Impact of planting date and seeding rate on forage and grain yields of dual-purpose wheat in central Texas.

 Crop Forage Turfgrass Manage 2:1-8
- Darwent AL, Smith JH (1985) Delayed seeding for wild oat control in rapeseed in northwest Alberta. Can J Plant Sci 65:1101-1106
- Dastgheib, F (1989) Relative importance of crop seed, manure, and irrigation water as sources of weed infestation. Weed Research 29:113-116.
- Djibril BA (1989) Germination, seed maturity and viability, and field emergence of rescuegrass. Masters' thesis. Stillwater, OK: Oklahoma State University. 52 p
- Driver JE, Peeper TF, Koscelny JA (1993) Cheat (*Bromus secalinus*) control in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) with sulfonylurea herbicides. Weed Technol 7:851-854

- Durutan N (1975) Effect of Timing and Rate of Metribuzin on Wheat and Barley

 Cultivars and on Italian Ryegrass. M.S. Thesis. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State

 University. 52 p
- Fast BJ, Medlin CR, Murray DS (2009) Five cool-season annual grass weeds reduce hard red winter wheat grain yield and price. Weed Technol 23:206-213
- Fortune PM, Pourtau N, Viron N, Ainouche ML (2008) Molecular phylogeny and reticulate origins of the polyploid *Bromus species* from section Genea (Poaceae).

 Am J Bot 95:454-464
- Glowicka-Wołoszyn R, Kozera A, Stanisławska J (2020) The problem of weed resistance to herbicides and the economic efficiency of wheat protection on the example of a large-scale agricultural farm. Annals 22:85-94
- Geier, PW, Stahlman PW, Peterson DE, Claasen MM (2011) Pyoxsulam compared with competitive standards for efficacy in winter wheat. Weed Technol 25:316-321
- Griffith AB, Andonian K, Weiss CP, Loik ME (2014) Variation in phenotypic plasticity for native and invasive populations of *Bromus tectorum*. Biol Invasions 16:2627-2638
- Harker KN, O'Donovan JT (2013) Recent weed control, weed management, and integrated weed management. Weed Technol 27:1-11
- Heap (2021a) Herbicide Resistant Weeds in Oklahoma, United

 States. http://www.weedscience.org/Pages/USState.aspx?StateAbbr=OK.

 Accessed: April 8, 2021

- Heap (2021b) HRAC Group 9 Resistant Rescuegrass (*Bromus catharticus*).

 http://weedscience.org/Details/case.aspx?ResistID=17144. Accessed: September 8, 2021
- Heap (2021c) HRAC Group 2 Resistant Japanese Brome (*Bromus japonicus*).

 http://weedscience.org/details/case.aspx?ResistID=5447. Accessed: September 15, 2021
- Heap (2021d) Weeds Resistant HRAC 1 (Inhibition of Acetyl CoA Carboxylase). http://weedscience.org/Pages/MOA.aspx. Accessed: September 15, 2021
- Heemst HDJ van (1985) The influence of weed competition on crop yield. Agricultural Systems 18:81-93
- Hunger RM, Sherwood JL, Evans CK, Montana JR (1992) Effects of planting date and inoculation date on severity of wheat streak mosaic in hard red winter wheat cultivars. Plant Dis 76:1056-1060
- Justice GG, Peeper TF, Solie JB, Epplin FM (1993) Net returns from cheat (*Bromus secalinus*) control in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Weed Technol 7:459-464
- Kern BK, Tortorelli C, Day MA, Nietupski T, Barros AMG, Kim JB, Krawchuk (2020)

 Invasive grasses: a new perfect storm for forested ecosystems? Forest Ecol Manag
- Koscelny JA, Peeper JF (1990) Herbicide-grazing interactions in cheat (*Bromus* secalinus)- infested winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Weed Sci 38:532-535
- Krenzer GJ (2021) Wheat for Pasture. Stillwater, OK: Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service F-2586. 6 p
- Li FS, Kang SZ, Zang JH, Cohen (2003). Effect of atmospheric CO2 enrichment, water status and applied nitrogen-use efficiencies of wheat. Plant Soil 254:279-289

- Lollato, RP, Patrignani A, Ochsner T, Rocateli A, Edwards J (2017) Dual purpose wheat: improving grazing management using a smartphone app. Stillwater, OK:

 Oklahoma State University PSS-2170 4 p
- Lyon DJ, Baltensperger DD, Siles M (2001) Wheat grain and forage yields are affected by planting and harvest dates in central great plains. Crop Sci 41:488-492
- Lyon DJ, Hulting AG, Morishita DW, Young FL (2015) Integrated Management of Downy Brome in Winter Wheat. Pullman, WA: Washington State University Series 668 6 p
- Mahmood Q, Bilal M, Jan S (2014) Chapter 17 Herbicides, pesticide, and plant tolerance: an overview. Biological Techniques 1:423-448
- Manuchehri MR, Lindell HC, Newlin LS (2021) True cheat Control in Oklahoma Winter Wheat. Stillwater, OK: Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service PSS-2774. 7 p
- Menalled, F (2008) Cheatgrass: Identification, Biology and Integrated

 Management. Bozeman, Montana: Montana State University Extension 6 p
- Miller TD (1992) Growth Stages of Wheat: Identification and Understanding Improve

 Crop Management. College Station, TX: Texas A&M University. 4 p
- Morgan GD, Shaffer OJ, Vietor D, Baughman TA (2011) Wheat grain yield responses to seeding date and rate under rainfed conditions in Texas. Crop Manag 10.2134/cftm2016.06.0045
- Mwendwa JM, Brown WB, Weidenhamer JD, Weston PA, Quinn JC, Wu H, Weston LA (2020) Evaluation of commercial wheat cultivars for canopy architecture, early vigour, weed suppression, and yield. Agron 10.3390/agronomy10070983

- Neely CB, Baumann PA, McGinty J (2016) Weed Control Recommendations in Wheat.

 College Station, Texas: Texas A&M AgriLife Extension ESC-037 6 p
- Park KW, Mallory-Smith CA (2005) Multiple herbicide resistance in downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) and its impact on fitness. Weed Sci 53:780-786
- Peeper TF (1984) Chemical and biological control of downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) in wheat and alfalfa in north America. Weed Sci 32:18-25
- Phillips SB, Chen J, Raun WR, Johnson GV, Cossey DA, Murray DS, Westerman RB (1999) Winter wheat and cheat seed response to foliar nitrogen applications. J Plant Nutr 22:1541-1549
- Powles SB, Shaner DL (2001) Herbicide Resistance and World Grains. 1st ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. Pp 1-20
- Ratliff RL, Peeper TF (1987) *Bromus* control in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) with the ethylthio analog of metribuzin. Weed Technol 1:235-241
- Ratliff RL (1985) Investigation of BAY SSH 0860 for cheat control in wheat. Master's thesis. Stillwater, OK: Oklahoma State University. 76 p
- Reddy SS, Stahlman PW, Geier PW (2013) Downy brome (*Bromus tectorum* L.) and broadleaf weed control in winter wheat with acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides. Agron 3:340-348
- Runyan TJ, McNeil WK, Peeper TF (1982) Differential tolerance of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cultivars to metribuzin. Weed Sci 30:94-97
- Sahs R, Bir C (2020) Machinery Ownership versus Custom Harvest*. Stillwater, OK:
 Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service. AGEC-240 4 p

- Seavers GP, Wright KJ (2002) Crop canopy development and structure influence weed suppression. Weed Research 39:319-328
- Sexsmith JJ, Pittman VJ (1963) Effect of nitrogen fertilizer on germination and stand of wild oats. Weed Sci 11:99-101
- Stahlman PW, Miller SD (1990) Downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) interference and economic thresholds in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Weed Sci 38:224-228
- Stone JC, Peeper TF, Stone AE (2006) Rotational cropping systems to reduce cheat (*Bromus secalinus*) densities. Weed Technol 20:445-452
- Subhan F, Kahn M, Jamro GH (2003) Weed management through planting date, seeding rate and weed control method in wheat. Pakistan Journal of Weed Sci 9:49-57
- Trew AM (1957) Rescuegrass. College Station, TX: The Texas A. & M. College System and the United States Department of Agriculture L-211 2 p
- [USDA] United State Department of Agriculture (2021a) FSA Crop Acreage Data

 Reported to FSA. https://www.fsa.usda.gov/news-room/efoia/electronic-readingroom/frequently-requested-information/crop-acreage-data/index. Accessed:
 September 9, 2021
- [USDA] United State Department of Agriculture (2021b) 2021 State Agriculture Overview-Oklahoma.
 - https://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by_State/Oklahoma/Publications/Recent_Reports/2021/OK-WheatVarieties-2021.pdf. September 13, 2021
- [USDA] United State Department of Agriculture (2020c) 2020 Texas Wheat Varieties-Texas.
 - https://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics by State/Texas/Publications/Current News

- _Release/2020_Rls/tx-wheat-variety-nass-2020.pdf. Accessed September 13, 2021
- [USDA] United State Department of Agriculture (2020) 2020 State Agriculture

 Overview-Oklahoma. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick_Stats/Ag_Overview/state

 Overview. php?state=OKLAHOMA. Accessed August 24, 2021
- [USDA] United State Department of Agriculture (2019) 2019 State Agriculture

 Overview-
 - Oklahoma. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick_Stats/Ag_Overview/state Overview . php?state=OKLAHOMA. Accessed: April 20, 2020
- UC IPM University of California, DofA and NR (n.d.) Acetolactate synthase (als) or acetohydroxy acid Synthase (ahas) inhibitors.

 http://herbicidesymptoms.ipm.ucanr.edu/MOA/ALS_or_AHAS_inhibitors/#:~:tex t=Affected%20plants%20also%20can%20exhibit,with%20necrotic%20lesions%2 0and%20cracks. Accessed April 7, 2021
- Valenti SA, Wicks GA (1992) Influence of nitrogen rates and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cultivars on weed control. Weed Sci 40:115-121
- Watson L, Dallwits MJ (1992) The Grass Genera of the World. Wallingford, Oxon, UK:

 CAB International 1038 p
- Welsh JP, Bulson HAJ, Stopes CE, Froud-Williams RJ, Murdoch AJ (1999) The critical weed-free period in organically grown winter wheat. Ann Appl Biol 134:315-320
- Wozniak A (2019) Effect of cereal monoculture and tillage systems on grain yield and weed infestation of winter durum wheat. Int J Plant Prod 14:1-8

- Yanniccari M, Vazquez-Garcia JG, Gomez-Lobato ME, Rojano-Delgado AM, Alves PL da CA, Prado R De (2021) First case of glyphosate resistance in *bromus* catharticus vahl.: examination of endowing resistance mechanisms. Front Plant Sci 12 10.3389/fpls.2021.617945
- Young FL, Ogg AG, Papendick RI, Thill DC, Alldredge JR (1994) Tillage and weed management affects winter wheat yield in an integrated pest management system.

 Agron J 86:147-154

CHAPTER II

INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT OF *BROMUS SPECIES* IN GRAIN ONLY WINTER WHEAT PRODUCTION OF THE SOUTHERN GREAT PLAINS

Introduction

As of 2021, Oklahoma and Texas are ranked third and second, respectively, in the nation for winter wheat production, with wheat being the number one cash crop produced in Oklahoma (~1.2 million ha harvested) and number six cash crop produced in Texas (~810,000 ha harvested) (NASS USDA 2021a). Oklahoma and Texas winter wheat is unique in the sense that many producers can utilize the system for forage and/or grain purposes, increasing diversity of income for the year. Producers will place cattle out to graze wheat through mid-fall and winter, removing cattle prior to wheat jointing, and harvesting grain in summer; known as dual-purpose systems. Because of the economic diversity winter wheat systems provide, Oklahoma producers can either sow wheat for dual-purpose from August to mid-October or grain only from mid-October to November (Lollato 2017). As for Texas winter wheat, dual-purpose wheat is sown from September to early-October, whereas grain only wheat is sown from October to early December (Darapuneni 2016). During optimum planting periods especially for dual-purpose, prime germination for winter annual grass weed spp. also occur, creating a challenge for many producers.

Due to the diverse crop-to-graze benefits winter wheat provides, many producers grow wheat season-to-season within the same field, creating monoculture systems. Winter annual grass weeds, such as *Bromus species (spp.)* adapt and thrive in monoculture systems, which fail to break up pest cycles.

Ratliff and Peeper (1987) observed dockage in harvested grain exceeding 40% in Bromus infested fields. Bromus spp. primarily found in Oklahoma and Texas winter wheat include cheat (*Bromus secalinus* L.), Japanese brome (*Bromus japonicus* Houtt.), rescuegrass (Bromus catharticus Vahl.), and occasionally downy brome (Bromus tectorum L.). Cheat has been documented to infest approximately 1.4 million hectares of harvested winter wheat in Oklahoma and can cause yield reductions up to 19% at a density of 89 plant m⁻² (Fast et al. 2009; Ratliff and Peeper 1987). Japanese brome seeds can germinate over a wide range of environmental conditions with high levels of germination occurring during fall months (Haferkamp et al. 1994). Rescuegrass is the first winter annual grass weed *spp*. to emerge in winter wheat systems with maximum emergence occurring from mid-September to mid-October, thus maturing earlier than other winter Bromus spp. (Djibril et al. 1985). Producers have claimed yield losses up to 50 and 70% in rescuegrass infested fields, as well as poor response to herbicides. Finally, downy brome grows actively throughout fall and winter, growing rapidly in the spring which dwindles resources for wheat and reduces yield up to 20% when approximately 65 plants m⁻² are present (Menalled et al. 2008; Stahlman and Miller 1990).

Immediate control and removal of *Bromus spp*. like these can be correlated to reduced competition and higher crop yield response (Ratliff 1985) and quality. Despite many regionally adapted wheat cultivars available to producers in Oklahoma and Texas,

Bromus spp. can still compete with wheat. Bromus spp. may cause grain and forage yield loss, delayed harvest operations, additional seed cleaning, and grain quality discounts such as dockage and/or foreign material. Effective control of Bromus spp. with the use of a herbicide may be an option. Although, cross-resistant cheat to ALS herbicides imazamox, propoxycarbazone-sodium, pyroxsulam, and sulfosulfuron exists in Oklahoma (Heap 2021a) leaving producers with few management options.

An increase in selection pressure also is partly attributed to decreased cultural and mechanical weed control as well as overuse of single herbicide active ingredients and sites of action, which is enhanced using herbicide tolerant wheat cultivars. Additionally, some *Bromus spp.*, like rescuegrass, are not herbicide resistant but simply respond poorly to herbicides (herbicide tolerant). Continuous, non-integrated management practices will result in resistant *spp.* reproducing in fields, likely not being detected until their populations reach 30% of total weed populations (Mahmood 2014).

The lack of consistent, effective management strategies of *Bromus spp*. is a serious production problem facing many southern Great Plains winter wheat producers. Although there are some herbicides that offer control in the short-term, long-term, integrated strategies are needed. To improve management of rescuegrass and other *Bromus spp*. in the region, a study was conducted at four locations over two growing seasons in Oklahoma and Texas to evaluate the impact of wheat cultivar selection, planting date, and herbicide treatment on *Bromus spp*. populations.

Materials and Methods

Study Area

Field experiments were located in Lahoma (36°23'08.6"N 98°06'46.4"W; elevation of 380m), Marshall (36°15'54.1"N 97°62'57.3"W; elevation of 321m), and Tipton (34°30'7.19"N 99°08.6"W; elevation of 394m), Oklahoma during 2019-2020 and 2020-2021 winter wheat growing seasons. Texas locations included Burkburnett (34°04'34.8"N 98°34'3.59"W; elevation of 323m) during the 2019-2020 season and Thornberry (34°3'29"N 98°23'21'W; elevation of 305m) during the 2020-2021 season. Soil type at the Marshall location primarily consisted of two soil types; 2019-20 growing season location was on a Kirkland silt loam (Fine, mixed, superactive, thermic Udertic Paleustoll) and the 2020-21 growing season was on a Kirkland silty clay loam (Fine, mixed, superactive, thermic Udertic Paleustolls), with an average pH of 5.3 and organic matter (OM) of 1.8% throughout both growing seasons. Lahoma primarily consisted of a Grant silt loam (Fine-silty, mixed, superactive, thermic Udic Argiustolls) with an average pH of 5.9 and OM of 1.5%. The Tipton location consisted of Tipton loam (Fine-loamy, mixed, superactive, thermic Pachic Argiustolls) with an average soil pH of 6.2 and OM of 1.3%. As for the Texas locations, Burkburnett soil type consisted of a Frankirk loam (Fine, mixed, superactive, thermic Typic Argiustolls) with a pH of 6.8 and OM of 1.2% and Thornberry soil consisted of a Winters loam (Fine, mixed, superactive, thermic Typic Paleustalfs) with a pH of 5.0 and OM of 1.4%. Field trial growing seasons are referred to as the year harvest of grain occurred. Winter wheat was sown at Lahoma and Marshall from early October to mid-November whereas the sowing window occurred from late

October to mid-December at the three most southern locations (Table 2.3). In-season rainfall and average monthly temperature are listed in (Table 2.1 and 2.2).

Field Trial Design and Method

Experimental design was a three-way factorial structure, arranged as a split-plot design with four replications. Trial independent variables included planting date, winter wheat cultivar, and herbicide. Main plots consisted of three planting dates, subplots represented one of two wheat cultivars, and sub-sub-plots two included herbicide treatments plus a nontreated control. Individual sub-sub plots were 2.2 m wide by 10 m in length. Three planting dates were used to represent optimal, mid-, and late planting dates (Table 2.3) for grain only production in Oklahoma and Texas. Optimal planting date represented the optimal time to sow grain only wheat for specific regions, the midplanting date was approximately a two-to-three week delay from the optimal planting, and the late planting date was approximately a five-to-six week delay from the optimal planting date. Optimal winter wheat planting window for Northern Oklahoma is from early October to mid-November whereas that for southern Oklahoma and North central Texas falls between late-October and mid-December (Lollato 2017). Two high-yielding winter wheat cultivars were selected; one with early canopy coverage and low forage yielding characteristics during spring ('Showdown') and one with prompt-lowcompetitive early canopy coverage and high forage yielding characteristics during spring ('Green Hammer') (OGI 2021). Wheat was planted using a Kincaid Great Plains Grain Drill (Kincaid Equipment Manufacturing Corporation, Haven, KS) with 19 cm row spacing at a seeding rate of 67 kg ha⁻¹. Immediately after each sowing for each planting date, a burndown application of glyphosate at 0.86 kg as ha⁻¹ with ammonium sulfate

(AMS) at 2.85 kg ha⁻¹ was sprayed to ensure a weed-free field prior to wheat emergence.

Proper field maintenance entails field fertility needs such as nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) and fungicide application at flag leaf stage. Soil samples were collected from each field location prior to planting each year, by obtaining 20 to 30 soil cores from 0 to 6 in in depth throughout one acre, thoroughly mixed, and analyzed at Oklahoma State University Soil, Water and Forage Analytical Laboratory (SWFAL) for pH, OM, and N-P-K analysis. Based on SWAFL results, application of N-P-K before planting and tillage were conducted at five site years. Three site years required split applied N-P-K.

Herbicide treatments included two common acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibiting herbicides and a nontreated control (Table 2.3). Each herbicide treatment included a non-ionic surfactant (NIS) at 0.25% vol/vol plus liquid urea-ammonium nitrate (UAN) at 30% vol/vol. Treatments consisted of pyroxsulam (Powerflex® HL, 18.4 g ai ha-1, Corteva, 974 Centre Road Wilmington, DE 19805

USA) or sulfosulfuron (Outrider®, 35.2 g ai ha-1, Valent U.S.A. LLC, 2600 Norris Canyon Road, San Ramon, CA 94583) applied at the 2- to 3-leaf stage of *Bromus spp*. at each site and planting date. Herbicides were sprayed at the recommended labelled rate using water as the carrier with a CO₂-pressurized backpack sprayer calibrated to deliver 140 L ha-1 at 3 mph, using Turbo TeeJet® 11002 nozzles.

Weed Control, Biomass Measurements, and Grain Yield

Visual control estimates of *Bromus spp*. (Table 2.4) were evaluated approximately four to six weeks and eight to nine weeks after treatment (WAT) using a

scale of 0 to 100 percent, where 0 equaled no weed control and 100 equaled complete control. Additionally, *Bromus spp*. densities were recorded in two 0.10 m² quadrats; one at front of plot and one at end of plot. Near the end of the winter wheat growing season when wheat and *Bromus spp*. were headed out, biomass of crop and weeds were collected from one 0.25 m² quadrat between the 2nd and 3rd row of crop from left side. Biomass samples were separated by species in the field. Samples were then dried in ovens at 60°C for five days, weighed in grams (g), and recorded. Wheat head counts also were recorded. Wheat was harvested in June or July of each year (Table 2.3) with a Wintersteiger (Wintersteiger Inc, Salt Lake City, UT) small plot combine (Table 2.3). Post-harvest seed dockage was assessed from 150 g subsamples per individual plot harvested and separated by hand for *Bromus spp*., miscellaneous weed *spp*. and wheat.

Statistical Analysis

Due to significant site year by treatment interactions, all site years were analyzed independently. Fixed effects included experimental site-year, planting date, winter wheat cultivar, and herbicide treatment while random effects included replication. A univariate analysis was performed on all responses in order to test for stable variance (Version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., SAS Campus Drive, NC). No data sets were transformed, as transformation did not increase stabilization. Data sets were analyzed using PROC MIXED with the pdmix 800 macro described by Saxton (1998) and treatments were separated by Fisher's Protected LSD at an α level of 0.05. Responses are referenced in an ANOVA table (Table 2.5) for Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

Results and Discussion

Marshall and Tipton

Rescuegrass Visual Control

Results are discussed by location because of varying *Bromus spp*. infestations. Planting date affected visual control of rescuegrass for ratings eight to nine weeks after treatment (WAT) at Marshall 2020 and 2021, and Tipton 2020 (Table 2.6). Winter wheat sown mid- and late at Marshall 2020 displayed 23% and 32% greater visual control of rescuegrass, respectively, compared to the optimal planting. At Marshall 2021, visual control was similar for mid- and late plantings (87% and 85%, respectively) and was greater than control following the optimal timing (78%). Rescuegrass at Tipton 2020 was controlled 57%, 69%, and 91% following optimal, mid- and late planting dates, respectively, with control increasing as planting delayed. In addition to planting date, at Marshall 2020 (Table 2.6), pyroxsulam provided 56% visual control of rescuegrass, an increase of 20% compared to sulfosulfuron. Near northeast Kansas, Reddy et al. (2013) also observed an increase in *Bromus spp*. control to pyroxsulam compared to sulfosulfuron applied in the fall POST where there was a 9% increase in visual control of downy brome following pyroxsulam compared to sulfosulfuron.

A planting date by herbicide interaction occurred at Tipton 2021 (Table 2.6). Pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron applied at the optimal and late planting date provided similar visual control (p>0.05) with no difference between the two herbicides. Sulfosulfuron combined with mid- planting controlled rescuegrass 95%, increasing control 17% compared to pyroxsulam. Additionally, control following sulfosulfuron between mid- and late planting increasing control over 20% compared to the optimal

planting date. Similar control was observed with pyroxsulam at the optimal and midplanting while the late planting increased control 15% compared to optimal planting.

Conversely to Marshall 2020 and Reddy et al. (2013), at the mid-planting, sulfosulfuron
visually increased control 17% compared to pyroxsulam. Although visual control varied
by herbicide at Marshall 2020 and Tipton 2021 dependent on environmental factors, a
study conducted in North Dakota observed sulfosulfuron and pyroxsulam resulted in
similar *Bromus spp.* visual control of 59 and 54%, respectively (Ostlie and Howatt 2013).

Therefore, producers need to consider herbicide label recommendations as well as region
and timing of application.

Rescuegrass Biomass at Heading

Dependent environmental factors, herbicide treatment affected rescuegrass biomass at Marshall 2020 and Tipton 2020 and 2021 variously (Table 2.7). Pyroxsulam decreased rescuegrass biomass by 75% and 80% compared to sulfosulfuron and nontreated, respectively, at Marshall 2020. Krenzer stated rescuegrass has been difficult to manage with sulfosulfuron (Lyon et al. 2002). Although, rescuegrass biomass at Tipton 2020 was reduced by 93% after an application of sulfosulfuron compared to the nontreated. Rescuegrass biomass following pyroxsulam was similar to the nontreated (~11 g 0.25m⁻²). Similar trends were present the following year at Tipton 2021 where rescuegrass biomass was similar following no treatment and pyroxsulam; however, sulfosulfuron reduced rescuegrass biomass by 67% and 77% compared to pyroxsulam and the nontreated, respectively. Dependent on region sulfosulfuron may have greater suppression of rescuegrass in Oklahoma winter wheat (G. Strickland, personal

communication). Therefore, producers need to consider herbicide label recommendations as well as region and timing of application.

While the effects of herbicide treatment on rescuegrass biomass were variable, manipulating planting date demonstrated to be an effective management strategy for consistently reducing rescuegrass competition at Marshall during both growing seasons (Table 2.7). During the 2020 season, 51% more rescuegrass biomass was collected following the optimal planting date compared to the mid- and late plantings. For Marshall 2021, rescuegrass biomass was similar for mid- and late plantings (~1.3 g 0.25m⁻²), while the optimal planting had ~71% more biomass. A similar study on chickweed (*Stellaria media* L.), field poppy (*Papaver rhoes* L.), and common oat (*Avena sativa* L.) biomass in Denmark discovered a 40% decrease in overall weed biomass as planting date of wheat was delayed to latest sowing date (Rasmussen 2004). Delaying planting date can allow producers to eliminate early flushes of rescuegrass by either the use of a non-selective herbicide or tillage.

Wheat Biomass at Heading

Dependent on growing season, planting date affected wheat biomass for Marshall and Tipton (Table 2.8). Delaying wheat planting at Marshall from the optimal to midtiming resulted in an increase in wheat biomass of 21% during the 2020 growing season while late planted wheat produced similar biomass to the optimal and mid-plantings with 155g 0.25 m⁻². Wheat biomass increasing 9% and 17% as planting date delayed to mid and late planting dates, respectively, relative to the optimal timing at Tipton 2020. It is not common to expect an increase in wheat biomass as planting date is delayed; however, Marshall and Tipton received consistent rainfall and warmer than typical average

temperatures throughout the 2020 growing season (Table 2.1). Optimal planting date did not record increased biomass due to early flush of rescuegrass after sowing of winter wheat. During the 2021 growing season, there was greater wheat biomass following the optimal timing compared to mid- and late plantings for Marshall and Tipton. Wheat biomass following the optimal planting at Marshall was 37% and 54% greater than biomass for mid- and late plantings, respectively. In addition, the mid-planting resulted in 1.5 times more wheat biomass compared to the late planting. For Tipton 2021, wheat biomass at mid- and late plantings produced similar biomass (~131g 0.25m⁻²); however, wheat biomass at the optimal timing increased 26% and 20% compared to mid- and late planting dates, respectively. Similar findings by Wajid et al. (2004) revealed that wheat biomass sown at the recommended timing significantly increased final biomass of wheat compared to a late planting date. Optimal planting window allows producers to sow wheat during optimal soil temperatures of 12 to 25°C (Austin and Jones 1975). As planting date delayed, soil temperatures fell towards or below the optimal range, resulting in less wheat stand occurring.

The only case where herbicide affected wheat biomass was at Marshall 2021 (p<0.0001). An application of pyroxsulam reduced wheat biomass by 17% compared to sulfosulfuron and the nontreated (Table 2.7). Wheat biomass following an application of sulfosulfuron was similar to wheat biomass from the nontreated control (~134 g 0.25m⁻²). Pyroxsulam may increase crop injury after application prior, during, or after a severe cold snap (Anonymous 2011) as observed in Oklahoma and Texas in February 2021 (Table 2.2). Application of pyroxsulam following the optimal, mid-, and late plantings occurred on December 25th, February 4th, and March 31st, respectively. Minimum

temperature for those three days were 1.4, 1.1, and 3.3 °C. Below freezing temperatures also occurred within a one-to-two week after herbicide application for mid- and late plantings with minimum temperatures of -26 and -0.55 °C, respectively.

Wheat Head Count

During the Tipton 2020 and Marshall 2021 growing seasons, planting date affected winter wheat head counts (Table 2.9). Following optimal and mid-plantings at Tipton, number of wheat head count were similar (~83) and 24% greater than heads produced at the late timing. At Marshall 2021, number of wheat heads decreased as planting date delayed. Delaying planting from optimal to mid- resulted in 23% less wheat heads. An additional delay from mid- to the late planting date resulted in 13% less wheat heads. Similar findings within the Midwest observed wheat heads per square feet decreased as planting date decreased from an August to a September and October planting date due to response to environment and stage of plant development when growth ceased (Dahlke et al 1993). Dahlke et al. (1993) recommended as planting date delayed, an increase in seeding rate can be beneficial in increasing yield components such as head counts.

A planting date by cultivar interaction occurred at Tipton 2021 with Green Hammer at the mid-planting producing 30% more wheat heads 0.25 m⁻² compared to Showdown (Table 2.8). Green Hammer at the mid-planting also produced 30% more wheat heads than Green Hammer at the late planting. Following the optimal and late plantings, both cultivars produced similar total number of wheat heads 0.25 m⁻² (~62.5). Dahlke et al. (1993) study also observed a cultivar affect when planting date was delayed. Cultivar Cardinal had higher yields than Merrimac when sown during September and

October due to heavier kernel weight. There were also instances where Merrimac had greater yields than Cardinal cultivar when planting date delayed after 3 October.

Selection of cultivars with adaptable yield components to varying conditions is critical but uncertain.

Wheat Yield

The main effects of planting date, cultivar selection, and/or herbicide treatments were significant on winter wheat yield (Table 2.10). At Tipton 2020, late planting (2,494 kg ha⁻¹) decreased grain yield up to 15% compared to optimal and mid-plantings (~3,009 kg ha⁻¹). In 2021 at Tipton, yield decreased as planting date delayed. Following the optimal planting date, yield was 25% and 46% greater than mid- and late plantings, respectively. Similar findings in Garden City, KS observed wheat cultivar TAM 107 yield declining as planting date delayed every month from 1 October to 1 April (October representing optimum yield) with November and December grain yield decreasing by 23 and 41% compared to October (Witt 1996). At Marshall 2020 or 2021, planting date did not affect yield. Dependent on region, delaying planting date can decrease grain yield due to soil temperatures falling towards or below the optimal range, resulting in less wheat stand and insufficient yield components.

At Marshall 2020, an application of sulfosulfuron increased wheat yield up to 20% compared to pyroxsulam and nontreated (~ 3,114 kg ha⁻¹). Kelley and Peeper (2003) also observed a grain yield increase after an application of sulfosulfuron (MON 37500) POST compared to nontreated by 69%. Tipton 2020 observed slightly different trends with pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron increasing yield by ~9% compared to the nontreated. At Marshall 2021, there was an 11% decrease in yield following pyroxsulam relative to

the nontreated control. Zuger et al. (2017) discovered similar yield trends where a spring application of pyroxsulam HL POST at 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ reduced grain yield by 15% compared to wheat without the spring application. A crop rotation study conducted in Georgia also observed wheat yield loss (9% to 10%) following POST application of pyroxsulam compared to sulfosulfuron and nontreated; however, pyroxsulam was applied at four times the recommended rate (74 g ai ha⁻¹) (Grey et al 2012). Pyroxsulam may increase crop injury after application which can decline grain yield due to insufficient crop growth.

At Tipton 2020, a cultivar effect impacted grain yield while a planting date by cultivar interaction occurred at Marshall 2021. At Tipton 2020, 7% more grain was produced for cultivar Showdown compared to Green Hammer. A similar trend occurred at Altus, OK during the 2020-2021 Oklahoma State University Wheat Cultivar Trials where Showdown yielded ~17% more than Green Hammer (OSU 2021). Conversely, at Marshall 2021, an increase in yield of 24% and 31% followed Green Hammer compared to Showdown at mid- and late planting, respectively. Both cultivars yielded an average of ~3,836 kg ha⁻¹ at the optimal planting date, which was an increase in grain yield up to 33% and 76% compared to mid- and late planting dates, respectively. Finally, at Marshall 2021, 74% more grain was collected at the mid-planting date compared to the late. It is uncertain why one cultivar yielded greater than the other did. Although, Green Hammer cultivar is a progeny of the three-way cross, OK Bullet/TAM 303 sister//Shocker and OK Bullet is characterized as a tall, semi-dwarf (OGI 2021). Studies conducted in the Pacific Northwest observed semi-dwarf cultivars produced highest grain yield across planting dates of August, September, and October compared to non-semi-dwarf cultivars

(Donaldson et al. 2001). Selection of semi-dwarf cultivars can be beneficial to increased grain yield dependent on region and cultivar adaptability.

Lahoma

Downy Brome and Cheat Visual Control

At Lahoma in 2020 and 2021, planting date affected visual control of downy brome and cheat eight to nine WAT (Table 2.11). in 2020, Bromus spp. visual control increased 11% at the mid-planting compared to the optimal and increased 14% at the late planting compared to the mid-planting. In 2021, similar *Bromus spp.* visual control (~98.5%) was recorded for mid- and late plantings and was 23% greater than control for the optimal planting. Massee (1976) observed similar trends in Idaho when downy brome was purposely planted with winter wheat across three planting dates (September 20, October 3, and October 19), downy brome germination declined at later planting dates. Although a planting date effect was consistent in both years, herbicide treatment only affected Bromus spp. visual control in 2020. Pyroxsulam controlled Bromus spp. 88% compared to sulfosulfuron with 82% control. Field studies over 3 years in Kansas comparing pyroxsulam with other acetolactate synthase inhibitors (sulfosulfuron) observed consistent visual control over 97% following an application of pyroxsulam while sulfosulfuron recorded inconsistent control (30 to 81%) (Geier et al. 2011). Application of pyroxsulam may allow producers greater visual control of *Bromus spp.* as a short-term solution but delaying sowing of winter wheat can result in greater decline in the long-term.

Wheat and Bromus spp. Biomass at Heading

Delaying planting affected wheat biomass for Lahoma 2020 and 2021 growing seasons (Table 2.12). Optimal planting in 2020 resulted in up to 24% greater wheat biomass compared to mid- and late plantings (~179.5g 0.25 m⁻²). In 2021, biomass for optimal and mid-plantings were similar (~202.9 g 0.25 m⁻²) and were 55.1 g 0.25 m⁻² greater than late planted wheat biomass. A herbicide by cultivar interaction also occurred for wheat biomass at Lahoma 2020 where sulfosulfuron decreased Showdown wheat biomass 23% and 22% compared to pyroxsulam and nontreated, respectively (Table 2.12). Showdown wheat biomass following pyroxsulam was 23% greater than Green Hammer following pyroxsulam. Showdown and Green Hammer treated with sulfosulfuron revealed uniform biomass (~187.4g 0.25 m⁻²). Nontreated Showdown and Green Hammer resulted in similar trends (~209.6g 0.25 m⁻²). Uncertain why Showdown cultivar resulted in greater biomass than Green Hammer after an application of pyroxsulam other cultivar competitiveness studies in Pakistan observed variation in cultivar response to herbicide application and weed density. Khaliq et al. (2014) observed variation among wheat cultivars after herbicide application might be due to morphophysiological differences in cultivar, accounting for variable weed competitiveness. Application of pyroxsulam or sulfosulfuron can suppress and reduce *Bromus spp.* stand, increasing competitive ability of winter wheat.

For downy brome and cheat biomass, planting date and herbicide treatment affect occurred in 2021 (Table 2.12). A reduction in downy brome biomass occurred as planting date was delayed. Downy brome biomass at the mid- and late planting dates was reduced 87% and 80%, respectively, compared to the optimal planting. Fewer *Bromus spp*.

emergence occurred as planting date delayed allowing adequate control with an application of a non-selective herbicide (glyphosate) immediately after planting because of maximum emergence of weeds occurring prior to later planting dates. Downy brome and cheat biomass were low ($\leq 0.4~{\rm g~m^{-2}}$) and 97 to 98% less, respectively, after an application of pyroxsulam or sulfosulfuron than biomass in nontreated controls. Herbicide application substantially suppress downy brome and cheat in winter wheat systems. In Oregon, fluazifop-P, quizalofop-P, sethoxydim, and clethodim applications to downy brome in greenhouse studies revealed excellent control of weed biomass compared to nontreated spp. (Ball et al. 2007)

Winter Wheat Yield

In 2020, delay in planting date from optimal to mid- or late planting decreased grain yield up to 21% (Table 2.13). In 2021, grain yield decreased when a delay in planting occurred across all herbicide treatments (pyroxsulam, sulfosulfuron, nontreated) with the optimal planting date following pyroxsulam or sulfosulfuron resulting in the greatest yields (~6,057 kg ha⁻¹). A planting date by cultivar interaction also occurred for winter wheat yield in 2021 (Table 2.13). Showdown sown at the optimal planting date produced 15% more grain than Green Hammer sown at the optimal timing and also yielded 17% and 61% more grain compared to mid- and late planting dates, respectively. Overall, main effects and herbicide and cultivar interactions for planting date occurred dependent on-site year with the optimal planting date resulting in greatest grain yield. The application of pyroxsulam or sulfosulfuron can increase grain yield but proper planting date selection is pertinent for the Lahoma region. Reddy et al. (2013) observed that herbicide alone is very important to maximize yield potential. Proper cultivar

selection may also increase grain yield dependent on planting date. Khaliq et al. (2014) study in Pakistan also verified that cultivar selection is critical for increased yield potential.

Burkburnett and Thornberry

Bromus spp. Visual Control and Biomass

Delaying winter wheat planting affected visual control of *Bromus spp.* at Burkburnett in 2020 (Table 2.14). Similar control was recorded (~62.5%) following optimal and mid-planting dates, while visual control was 26% greater following the late planting. At Burkburnett 2020, herbicide treatment affected rescuegrass biomass, while a planting date by herbicide and a planting date by cultivar interaction for downy brome biomass occurred (Table 2.15). Sulfosulfuron reduced rescuegrass biomass 75% compared to nontreated, while pyroxsulam observed little difference compared to nontreated and sulfosulfuron (~2.7g 0.25 m⁻²). Downy brome biomass was 89% less following pyroxsulam applied at the late planting compared to the optimal and midplanting dates. At the optimal planting, pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron reduced downy brome biomass 69% and 86%, respectively, compared to the nontreated control. A similar trend occurred at the mid-planting date where downy brome biomass was 94% greater following no herbicide treatment compared to pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron applications. A three-year study in Kansas discovered similar findings with pyroxsulam applied POST in the fall where downy brome was visually controlled 84 to 99% and was similar to or greater than sulfosulfuron (Geier 2011). The nontreated late planting date provided 86% less downy brome biomass compared to nontreated plots at the optimal and mid-planting dates. Downy brome biomass also was similar (~6.7g 0.25 m⁻²) at the

late planting date following nontreated, pyroxsulam, and sulfosulfuron treatments. While pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron offer sufficient suppression of *Bromus spp.*, delaying planting date also offers extra suppression and another long-term solution to producers.

Showdown and Green Hammer sown at the optimal time resulted in the greatest amount of downy brome biomass (~44.5g 0.25 m⁻²) while the late plantings of both cultivars resulted in the least (~7g 0.25 m⁻²). Unsure as to why, but the mid-planting date resulted in a varietal effect on downy brome biomass with 43% less in Green Hammer compared to Showdown. In the Rolling Plains competitive ability of cultivars may increase grain yield at certain planting dates, but overall, later planting dates decrease grain yield because of insufficient stand of wheat sown into soils with temperatures below the optimum wheat emergence temperature range.

Wheat Biomass and Head Counts

A cultivar effect resulted in Green Hammer producing 24% more biomass than Showdown at Burkburnett in 2020 (Table 2.15). A planting date by herbicide interaction also occurred with sulfosulfuron applied at the optimal and mid-planting dates increasing wheat biomass 56% and 47%, respectively, compared to nontreated. All herbicide treatments following late planted wheat produced similar wheat biomass (~93.7g 0.25 m⁻²). For Thornberry 2021, the optimal planting date resulted in 49% and 79% more biomass compared to mid- and late planting dates, respectively. The mid-planting date produced 60% more wheat biomass than the late planting date.

At Burkburnett 2020, herbicide treatment affected winter wheat head counts, while planting date affected Thornberry 2021 head counts (Table 2.16). Following pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron at Burkburnett, wheat head counts increased up to 29%

compared to nontreated wheat. For Thornberry 2021, planting date trends for wheat head counts matched wheat biomass. Similar to findings by Musick et al. (1980), optimal and mid-planting dates resulted in 77% and 44% more heads 0.25m⁻², respectively, than heads for the late planting. Head counts also increased 54% from the optimal to mid-planting. At mid- and late planting dates at Thornberry 2021, wheat stand was extremely minimal, resulting in less biomass and fewer wheat heads compared to the optimal planting date. Minimal wheat stand can be attributed to unfavorable environmental conditions and extreme infestations of rattail fescue [Vulpia myuros (L.) C.C. Gmel].

Wheat Yield

As planting date delayed, Burkburnett 2020 grain yield varied dependent on herbicide application (Table 2.17). At the optimal planting, nontreated wheat yielded 44% and 18% less than pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron treated wheat, respectively. Conversely, following the late planting, pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron reduced grain yield up to 26% compared to the nontreated. Burkburnett had substantial summer annual weed *spp*. suppression at the late planting date. An increase in *Bromus spp*. was observed for nontreated plots because pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron suppressed those *spp*. allowing growth for summer annuals which interfered with crops ability to grow successfully. Grain yield following sulfosulfuron applied at mid-planting was greatest (1,768 kg ha⁻¹) compared to pyroxsulam and nontreated (~1,239 kg ha⁻¹). Herbicide application following a planting window relatively close to the optimal timing can suppress *Bromus spp*. adequately without decreasing yield due to fewer emergence of summer annual weed *spp*. and possibly crop growth stage at application of herbicide.

At Burkburnett 2020 and Thornberry 2021, grain yield varied dependent on planting date by cultivar interaction. At Burkburnett 2020, Showdown sown at the optimal timing resulted in 359 kg ha⁻¹ more grain than Green Hammer. While grain yield for Showdown was 387 kg ha⁻¹ less than Green Hammer at the mid- planting date. Grain yield also declined from the optimal to mid- planting date for Showdown cultivar by 16%. However, Green Hammer sown at the mid- planting date resulted in 31% greater yield compared to the optimal planting date. At Thornberry 2021, Showdown and Green Hammer at the optimal planting date resulted in over 94% and 93%, respectively, greater grain yield compared to mid- and late planting dates. At the optimal planting date alone, yield increased 354 kg ha⁻¹ following sowing of Green Hammer compared to Showdown. It is unclear why Showdown and Green Hammer resulted in variation of yield increase and decrease dependent on planting date across Burkburnett and Thornberry.

Delaying planting date of wheat allows producers to control early emerging rescuegrass and *Bromus spp*. but creates the possibility for grain yield loss or lack of forage in dual-purpose systems. Delaying planting date also provides producers the chance to avoid severe weather anomalies such as drought, freeze, and excessive flooding. Along with planting date, selection of competitive winter wheat cultivars for a particular region may determine how well the crop yields and competes with weeds. Wheat cultivar competitiveness to *weed spp*. trials in Canada discovered cultivar CDC Ptarmigan (soft white winter wheat grown for the ethanol feedstock market, medium height, high yield, fair winter hardiness) controlled and suppressed monocot weed spp. greater than less competitive cultivars (Beres et al. 2010).

The use of acetolactate synthase inhibiting herbicides pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron can provide effective control of rescuegrass and other *Bromus spp. but* may alter successful crop growth. Environmental conditions, such as air temperature (Olson et al. 2000), soil organic matter and pH (Moyer and Hamman 2001), and precipitation (Shinn et al. 1998) can alter efficacy of sulfonylurea herbicides (sulfosulfuron). A wide range of weather conditions occurred throughout all site years; from warm and humid to severely cold, this likely resulted in varying effects of sulfosulfuron and pyroxsulam.

Winter wheat cultivar selection, time of wheat planting, and herbicide treatment are important strategies for rescuegrass and *Bromus spp*. control. Producers in the southern Great Plains have the option to integrate these tools with their existing weed management plans, either individually, together, or in a sequential manner. Treatments of pyroxsulam and sulfosulfuron and/or a delay in planting by two to six weeks after the optimal time did provide a reduction in rescuegrass and *Bromus spp*. biomass but also resulted in decreased wheat biomass and grain yield. Producers will need to evaluate their *Bromus spp*. infestations and decide if they can take on short-term yield decreases in order to make a long-term investment in weed management.

Literature Cited

- Anonymous (2011) PowerFlex® HL herbicide product label. Dow AgroSciences LLC No. 62719-643. Indianapolis, IN: Dow AgroSciences. 21 p
- Austin RB, Jones HG (1975) The physiology of wheat. Pages 20-73 *In* Plant Breeding Institute, Annual Report. Cambridge UK: Agronomy Science of America
- Ball DA, Frost SM, Bennett LH (2007) ACCase-inhibitor herbicide resistance in downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) in Oregon. Weed Sci 55:91-94
- Beres BL, Clayton GW, Harker KN, Stevenson FC, Blackshaw RE, Graf RJ (2010) A sustainable management package to improve winter wheat production and competition with weeds. Agron J 102:649-657
- Dahlke BJ, Oplinger ES, Gaska JM, Martinka MJ (1993) Influence of planting date and seeding rate on winter wheat grain yield and yield components. J Prod Agric 6:408-414
- Darapuneni MK, Morgan GD, Shaffer OJ, Dodia S (2016) Impact of planting date and seeding rate on forage and grain yields of dual-purpose wheat in central Texas.

 Crop Forage Turfgrass Manage 2:1-8
- Djibril BA (1989) Germination, seed maturity and viability, and field emergence of rescuegrass. Masters' thesis. Stillwater, OK: Oklahoma State University. 52 p

- Donaldson E, Schillinger WF, Dofing SM (2001) Straw production and grain yield relationships in winter wheat. Crop Sci 41:100-106
- Fast BJ, Medlin CR, Murray DS (2009) Five cool-season annual grass weeds reduce hard red winter wheat grain yield and price. Weed Technol 23:206-213
- Geier PQ, Stahlman PW, Peterson WE, Claassen MM (2011) Pyroxsulam compared with competitive standards for efficacy in winter wheat. Weed Technol 25:316-321
- Grey TL, Braxton LB, Richburg JS (2012) Effect of wheat herbicide carryover on double-crop cotton and soybean. Weed Technol 36:20-212
- Haferkamp MR, Karl MG, Macneil MD (1994) Influence of storage, temperature, and light on germination of japanese brome seed. J Range Manage 47:140-144
- Heap (2021a) Herbicide Resistant Weeds in Oklahoma, United

 States. http://www.weedscience.org/Pages/USState.aspx?StateAbbr=OK.

 Accessed: April 8, 2021
- Kelley JP, Peeper TF (2003) MON 37500 application timing affects cheat (*Bromus secalinus*) control and winter wheat. Weed Sci 51:231-236
- Khaliq A, Hussain M, Matloob A, Tanveer A, Zamir SI, Azfal I, Aslam F (2014) Weed growth, herbicide efficacy indices, crop growth and yield of wheat are modified by herbicide and cultivar interaction. Pak J Weed Sci Res 20:91-109
- Lollato RP, Patrignani A, Ochsner T, Rocateli A, Edwards J (2017) Dual purpose wheat: improving grazing management using a smartphone app. Stillwater, OK:

 Oklahoma State University PSS-2170 4 p

- Lyon DJ, Bussan AJ, Evans JO, Mallory-Smith CA, Peeper TF (2002) Pest management implications of glyphosate-resistant wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) in the western united states. Weed Technol 16:680-690
- Mahmood Q, Bilal M, Jan S (2014) Chapter 17 Herbicides, pesticide, and plant tolerance: an overview. Biological Techniques 1:423-448
- Menalled, F (2008) Cheatgrass: Identification, Biology and Integrated

 Management. Bozeman, Montana: Montana State University Extension 6 p
- Moyer JR, Hamman WM (2001) Factors affecting the toxicity of MON 37500 residues to following crops 1. Weed Technol 15:42-47
- [OGI] Oklahoma Genetics, Inc (2021) Hard Red Winter Wheat Characteristics.

 https://www.okgenetics.com/hard-red-winter.html. Accessed November 5, 2021
- Olson BLS, Al-Khatib K, Stahlman P, Isakson PJ (2000) Efficacy and metabolism of MON 37500 in *Triticum aestivum* and weedy grass species as affected by temperature and soil moisture. Weed Sci 48:541–548
- Ostlie MH, Howatt KA (2013) Downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) competition and control in no-till spring wheat. Weed Technol 27:502-508
- [OSU] Oklahoma State University (2021) Wheat Variety Testing: Altus 2020-2021.

 Stillwater, OK: Department of Plant and Soil Science, p 1
- Rasmussen IA (2004) The effect of sowing date, stale seedbed, row width and mechanical weed control on weeds and yields of organic winter wheat. Weed Res 44:12-20
- Ratliff RL, Peeper TF (1987) *Bromus* control in winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) with the ethylthio analog of metribuzin. Weed Technol 1:235-241

- Reddy SS, Stahlman PW, Greir PW (2013) Downy brome (*Bromus tectorum* L.) and broadleaf weed control in winter wheat with acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides. Agron 3:340-348
- Saxton AM (1998) A macro for converting mean separation output to letter groupings in Proc Mixed. Pages 1243–1246 in Proceedings of the 23rd SAS Users Group International. Cary, NC: SAS Institute
- Shinn SL, Thill DC, Price WJ, Ball DA (1998) Response of downy brome (*Bromus tectorum*) and rotational crops to MON 37500. Weed Technol 12:690–698
- [USDA] United State Department of Agriculture (2021a) FSA Crop Acreage Data

 Reported to FSA. https://www.fsa.usda.gov/news-room/efoia/electronic-readingroom/frequently-requested-information/crop-acreage-data/index. Accessed:
 September 9, 2021
- [USDA] United States Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistic Service (2021b) 2021 Quick Stats https://quickstats.nass.usda.gov/results/ACB5E894-DB2A-3CB6-97E9-632FB636BEA4. Accessed October 14, 2021
- [USDA NRCS] United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conversation

 Service Web Soil Survey (2021)

 https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/App/WebSoilSurvey.aspx. Accessed

 August 30, 2021.
- Wajid A, Hussian A, Ahmad A, Goheer AR, Brahim M, Massaddique M (2004) Effect of sowing date and plant population on biomass, grain yield and yield components of wheat. Int J Agric Biol 6:1003-1005

- Winter SR, Musick JT (1993) Wheat planting date effects on soil water extraction and grain yield. Agron J 85:912-916
- Witt MD (1996) Delayed planting opportunities with winter wheat in the central great plains. J Prod Agric 9:74-78
- Zuger RJ, Hauvermale AL, Burke IC (2017) Preemergence and Postemergence for

 Downy Brome Control in Clearfield Winter Wheat. Pullman, WA: Washington

 State University. 3 p

Tables

Table 2.1. Monthly average weather data at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK, and Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| Lahoma 2020 | | 020 | Marshall 2020 | | | Tipton 2020 | | | Burkburnett 2020 | | | |
|-------------|-----|-----|---------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------|------|----------------------------|------------------|----------------|-----|----------|
| Month | • | | Rainfall | Temp | Temperature Rainfall | | Temp | Temperature Rainfall °C in | | Temperature °C | | Rainfall |
| | | | in | $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ | | in | o | | | | | in |
| | Min | Max | | Min | Max | | Min | Max | | Min | Max | |
| October | -7ª | 28 | 0.8^{b} | -7 | 28 | 1.7 | -6 | 11 | 0.0 | | | |
| November | -11 | 24 | 1.2 | -12 | 24 | 1.9 | -10 | 26 | 1.1 | -8 | 27 | 2.2 |
| December | -6 | 22 | 1.5 | -9 | 22 | 1.3 | -8 | 24 | 0.4 | -6 | 24 | 0.6 |
| January | -7 | 20 | 1.5 | -6 | 22 | 2.4 | -6 | 22 | 2.1 | -4 | 24 | 2.9 |
| February | -10 | 24 | 1.2 | -11 | 25 | 0.8 | -17 | 26 | 0.9 | -11 | 28 | 2.0 |
| March | -3 | 27 | 3.0 | -4 | 32 | 3.8 | -2 | 35 | 3.8 | 1 | 34 | 5.0 |
| April | -3 | 30 | 1.0 | -2 | 31 | 0.8 | -2 | 34 | 1.4 | -1 | 33 | 0.4 |
| May | 2 | 34 | 1.9 | 3 | 33 | 3.1 | 5 | 41 | 8.8 | 6 | 39 | 4.4 |
| June | 11 | 39 | 0.0 | 16 | 37 | 0.0 | 18 | 34 | 0.0 | 16 | 32 | 0.0 |
| July | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Average | -4 | 28 | 1.3 | -3 | 28 | 1.8 | -3 | 31 | 2.1 | -1 | 30 | 2.2 |
| Total | | | 12.1 | | | 15.8 | | | 18.5 | | | 17.4 |

^a All Oklahoma and Texas max and min temperature data collected from the Oklahoma Mesonet (mesonet.org) and Texas Mesonet (texmesonet.org)

^b Rainfall was determined from planting date to harvest date.

Table 2.2. Monthly average weather data at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK, and Thornberry, TX during the 2020-21 winter wheat growing season.

| Lal | | Lahoma 2 | .021 | Marshall 2021 | | | Tipton 2021 | | | Thornberry 2021 | | |
|----------|-----|----------|-----------|----------------------------|-----|---------------------|-------------|---------|----------|-----------------|-----|----------|
| Month | 1 | | Rainfall | tainfall Temperature in °C | | emperature Rainfall | | erature | Rainfall | Temperature | | Rainfall |
| | | | in | | | in | o | C | in | °C | | in |
| | Min | Max | | Min | Max | | Min | Max | | Min | Max | |
| October | -3ª | 34 | 2.2^{b} | -2 | 28 | 3.3 | | | | | | |
| November | -6 | 27 | 1.6 | -5 | 26 | 0.7 | -4 | 28 | 0.4 | -3 | 29 | 0.4 |
| December | -12 | 20 | 1.8 | -15 | 23 | 2.2 | -8 | 23 | 1.9 | -6 | 26 | 1.4 |
| January | -7 | 18 | 1.5 | -7 | 18 | 2.3 | -6 | 22 | 0.5 | -7 | 22 | 0.6 |
| February | -25 | 21 | 0.2 | -27 | 22 | 0.2 | -22 | 25 | 0.3 | -22 | 28 | 0.8 |
| March | -4 | 27 | 4.6 | -4 | 27 | 5.6 | -4 | 31 | 0.9 | 1 | 29 | 1.3 |
| April | -3 | 27 | 2.2 | -3 | 28 | 2.7 | -1 | 31 | 2.9 | 1 | 31 | 4.5 |
| May | 5 | 30 | 4.2 | 4 | 19 | 3.6 | 6 | 33 | 4.5 | 8 | 32 | 4.8 |
| June | 12 | 39 | 4.5 | 12 | 37 | 0.8 | 14 | 36 | 3.7 | 13 | 36 | 0.8 |
| July | 17 | 33 | 0.3 | | | | | | | | | |
| Average | -3 | 28 | 2.3 | -5 | 25 | 2.4 | -3 | 29 | 2 | -2 | 29 | 1.8 |
| Total | | | 23.1 | | | 21.5 | | | 15.3 | | | 14.7 |

^a All Oklahoma and Texas max and min temperature data collected from the Oklahoma Mesonet (mesonet.org) and Texas Mesonet (texmesonet.org)

^b Rainfall was determined from planting date to harvest date.

Table 2.3. Agronomic practices at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| Growing season | Location | Plant timing | Planting date | Herbicide application date | Harvest date |
|----------------|-------------|----------------------|---------------|----------------------------|--------------|
| 2019-20 | Lahoma | Optimal ^a | Oct 17 | Dec 20 ^b | Jun 8° |
| | | Mid- | Nov 5 | Jan 14 | Jun 8 |
| | | Late | Nov 18 | Feb 7 | Jun 18 |
| 2019-20 | Marshall | Optimal | Oct 8 | Nov 14 | Jun 5 |
| | | Mid- | Oct 22 | Nov 25 | Jun 5 |
| | | Late | Nov 14 | Jan 13 | Jun 5 |
| 2019-20 | Tipton | Optimal | Oct 31 | Dec 12 | Jun 3 |
| | | Mid- | Nov 22 | Jan 24 | Jun 3 |
| | | Late | Dec 11 | Mar 11 | Jun 11 |
| 2019-20 | Burkburnett | Optimal | Nov 1 | Dec 12 | Jun 3 |
| | | Mid- | Nov 23 | Jan 15 | Jun 3 |
| | | Late | Dec 12 | Mar 11 | Jun 11 |
| 2020-21 | Lahoma | Optimal | Oct 9 | Dec 1 | Jul 7 |
| | | Mid- | Nov 11 | Feb 2 | Jul 7 |
| | | Late | Nov 30 | Mar 31 | Jul 7 |
| 2020-21 | Marshall | Optimal | Oct 5 | Dec 25 | Jun 23 |
| | | Mid- | Nov 10 | Feb 5 | Jun 23 |
| | | Late | Nov 30 | Mar 31 | Jun 23 |
| 2020-21 | Tipton | Optimal | Nov 13 | Jan 19 | Jun 16 |
| | | Mid- | Dec 4 | Mar 4 | Jun 16 |
| | | Late | Dec 18 | Mar 25 | Jun 16 |
| 2020-21 | Thornberry | Optimal | Nov 12 | Jan 20 | Jun 23 |
| | | Mid- | Dec 4 | Apr 1 | Jun 23 |
| | | Late | Dec 18 | Apr 22 | Jun 23 |

^a Optimal planting date represents the optimal window winter wheat can be sown with mid- occurring two to three weeks after optimal and late occurring two to three weeks after mid-.

^b Application timing of pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ at 2- to 3- leaf stage of winter wheat and *Bromus spp*. for each planting date.

 $^{^{\}rm c}$ Harvest date of wheat grain when kernel moisture was between 9 to 12% .

Table 2.4. Visual control ratings and stand counts of *Bromus spp.*, as well as crop and weed biomass collection dates at Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| Growing season | Location | Plant timing | Visual c | Visual control and stand counts | | | | |
|----------------|-------------|----------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------|---------|---------------------|--|--|
| 2019-2020 | Lahoma | Optimal ^a | January 20 ^b | February 11 | June 8 | May 12 ^c | | |
| | | Mid- | February 11 | March 21 | June 8 | May 14 | | |
| | | Late | March 21 | April 2 | June 8 | May 19 | | |
| 2019-2020 | Marshall | Optimal | December 20 | January 14 | June 5 | Apr 16 | | |
| | | Mid- | January 9 | January 31 | June 5 | May 7 | | |
| | | Late | February 19 | March 24 | June 5 | May 8 | | |
| 2019-2020 | Tipton | Optimal | January 15 | February 14 | June 3 | April 21 | | |
| | _ | Mid- | February 24 | March 20 | June 3 | May 11 | | |
| | | Late | April 17 | May 11 | June 11 | May 13 | | |
| 2019-2020 | Burkburnett | Optimal | January 15 | February 8 | June 3 | Apr 21 | | |
| | | Mid- | February 24 | March 20 | June 3 | May 11 | | |
| | | Late | April 17 | May 11 | June 11 | May 13 | | |
| 2020-21 | Lahoma | Optimal | January 12 | March 8 | July 7 | May 7 | | |
| | | Mid- | March 8 | March 30 | July 7 | May 15 | | |
| | | Late | April 27 | May 26 | July 7 | May 20 | | |
| 2020-2021 | Marshall | Optimal | March 2 | March 30 | June 23 | May 13 | | |
| | | Mid- | March 10 | March 30 | June 23 | May 14 | | |
| | | Late | April 27 | May 26 | June 23 | May 20 | | |
| 2020-2021 | Tipton | Optimal | March 1 | March 25 | June 15 | April 30 | | |
| | - | Mid- | April 1 | April 30 | June 15 | May 5 | | |
| | | Late | April 19 | May 17 | June 15 | May 17 | | |
| 2020-2021 | Thornberry | Optimal | March 1 | April 1 | * | May 4 | | |
| | J | Mid- | Apr 22/May 4d | June 11 | * | June 11 | | |
| | | Late | May 9 | June 10 | * | June11 | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents the optimal window winter wheat can be sown with Mid- occurring two to three weeks after optimal and Late occurring two to three weeks after Mid-.

^b Visual control and stand counts of *Bromus spp.* approximately four to six and eight to nine WAT, and at harvest. Stand counts were not recorded.

^c Biomass collection of wheat and *Bromus spp.* at heading.

^d Visual control was conducted on April 22nd and weed stand counts were conducted on May 4th.

^{*} Ratings did not take place.

Table 2.5. ANOVA table for Lahoma, Marshall, and Tipton, OK and Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Lahoma | | homa Marshall | | Tip | ton | Burkburnett | Thornberry | |
|-------------------|--------|-----|---------------|-----|-------------|-----|-------------|------------|--|
| Growing season | 20 | 21 | 20 | 21 | 20 | 21 | 20 | 21 | |
| | | | | W | eed control | | | | |
| Planting date (P) | *** | NS | *** | * | *** | *** | *** | ND | |
| Herbicide (H) | * | NS | *** | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| Cultivar (C) | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| РхН | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | *** | NS | ND | |
| РхС | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| НхС | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| PxHxC | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| | | | | We | ed biomass | | | | |
| Planting date (P) | NS | * | *** | *** | NS | NS | *** | ND | |
| Herbicide (H) | NS | *** | *** | NS | *** | * | *** | ND | |
| Cultivar (C) | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| РхН | NS | * | NS | NS | NS | NS | *** | ND | |
| РхС | NS | NS | ** | NS | NS | NS | * | ND | |
| НхС | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| РхНхС | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ND | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

| Planting date (P) | *** | *** | ** | *** | *** | * | NS | *** |
|-------------------|-----|-----|-----|------|---------------|-----|-----|-----|
| Herbicide (H) | NS | NS | NS | *** | NS | NS | * | NS |
| Cultivar (C) | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ** | * |
| РхН | NS | NS | NS | * | NS | NS | ** | NS |
| РхС | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| НхС | ** | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| PxHxC | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| | | | | Whee | at head count | | | |
| Planting date (P) | *** | *** | NS | *** | ** | NS | NS | *** |
| Herbicide (H) | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ** | NS |
| Cultivar (C) | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | ** | NS |
| РхН | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| РхС | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | | * | NS |
| НхС | ** | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| PxHxC | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| | | | | W | heat yield | | | |
| Planting date (P) | *** | *** | NS | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| Herbicide (H) | NS | ** | *** | * | * | NS | *** | NS |
| Cultivar (C) | NS | NS | NS | *** | * | NS | NS | ** |
| РхН | NS | ** | NS | NS | NS | NS | *** | NS |

| РхС | NS | ** | NS | ** | NS | NS | *** | * | |
|-------|----|----|----|----|----|----|-----|----|--|
| НхС | NS | NS | |
| PxHxC | NS | NS | |

^{*, **, ***} represents 0.05, 0.01, and <0.0001, respectively.

NS: Not significant.

ND: No data.

Table 2.6. Visual control of rescuegrass eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall 2020 | Marshall 2021 | Tipton 2020 | Tip 20. | |
|-------------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|------|
| | | | —— % Visual control | a | |
| Planting date | | | | | |
| Optimal ^b | 28 b | 78 b | 57 c | | |
| Mid- | 51 a | 87 a | 69 b | | |
| Late | 60 a | 85 a | 91 a | | |
| Herbicide | | | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^c | 56 a | | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 36 b | | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | | | | $\mathbf{P}^{\mathbf{c}}$ | S |
| Optimal | | | | 73 cd ^d | 66 d |
| Mid- | | | | 78 bc | 95 a |
| Late | | | | 86 ab | 89 a |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^c Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table 2.7. Rescuegrass biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 m⁻²) at Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall 2020 | Marshall 2021 | Tipton 2020 | Tipton 2021 |
|-------------------------|------------------|------------------|--------------------|----------------|
| | | g 0. | 25 m ⁻² | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 45.4 a | 4.4 a | | |
| Mid | 22.2 b | 1.3 b | | |
| Late | 26.6 b | 1.2 b | | |
| Herbicide | | | | |
| Nontreated | 47.5 a | | 13.7 a | 4.5 a |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 9.4 b | | 8.3 a | 3.1 a |
| sulfosulfuron | 37.2 a | | 1.0 b | 1.0 b |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam was sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a nonionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

Table 2.8. Winter wheat biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 m⁻²) at Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | |
|--|-------|
| Optimala 135 bb 180 a 156 c Mid 170 a 114 b 171 b Late 155 ab 83 c 188 a | |
| Mid 170 a 114 b 171 b Late 155 ab 83 c 188 a | |
| Late 155 ab 83 c 188 a | 153 a |
| | 132 b |
| Herbicide | 129 b |
| | |
| Nontreated 133 a | |
| Pyroxsulam ^c 111 b | |
| sulfosulfuron 134 a | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at $P \le 0.05$.

^c Pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

Table 2.9. Winter wheat head counts (0.25 m⁻² quadrat) for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall 2021 | Tipton 2020 | Tipt 202 | |
|------------------------|------------------|----------------|----------------------------|-------|
| - | | # of wheat | heads | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 78 a | 80 a | | |
| Mid- | 60 b | 85 a | | |
| Late | 52 c | 65 b | | |
| Planting date*cultivar | | | SD^{b} | GH |
| Optimal | | | 73 ab ^c | 63 bc |
| Mid- | | | 56 с | 80 a |
| Late | | | 58 bc | 56 c |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

 $^{^{\}circ}$ Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table 2.10. Grain yield (kg ha⁻¹) for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall 2020 | | rshall 021 | Tipton 2020 | Tipton 2021 |
|--------------------------|------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------|----------------|
| | | | kg ha ⁻¹ | | |
| Planting date | | | C | | |
| Optimal ^a | | | | 2,963 a | 4,856 a |
| Mid- | | | | 3,055 a | 3,663 b |
| Late | | | | 2,494 b | 2,630 с |
| Herbicide | | | | | |
| Nontreated | 2,998 b | 2,8 | 312 a | 2,663 b | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 3,231 b | 2,4 | .94 b | 2,915 a | |
| sulfosulfuron | 3743 a | 2,68 | 31 ab ^c | 2,934 a | |
| Cultivar | | | | | |
| Showdown ^d | | | | 2,939 a | |
| Green Hammer | | | | 2,736 b | |
| Planting date * cultivar | | SD^{d} | GH | | |
| Optimal | | 3,804 a | 3,869 a | | |
| Mid- | | 2,610 с | 3,456 b | | |
| Late | | 911 e | 1,324 d | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹, and nontreated check. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

 $^{\circ}$ Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

^d Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

Table 2.11. Visual control of downy brome and cheat eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Lahoma 2020 | Lahoma 2021 |
|-------------------------|----------------|-----------------------------|
| | | Visual control ^a |
| Planting date | | |
| Optimal ^b | 74 c | 76 b |
| Mid- | 83 b | 98 a |
| Late | 96 a | 99 a |
| Herbicide | | |
| pyroxsulam ^c | 88 a | |
| sulfosulfuron | 82 b | |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^c Pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

Table 2.12. Wheat, downy brome, and cheat biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 m⁻²) at Lahoma, Oklahoma during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | | noma 020 | | Lahoma 2021 | |
|-------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|----------------|--------|
| | W | heat | Wheat | Downy brome | Cheat |
| | | | g 0.25 m ⁻² — | | |
| Planting date | | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 233 | 3.7 a | 207.5 a | 10.8 a | |
| Mid- | 171 | 1.5 b | 198.3 a | 1.4 b | |
| Late | 187 | 7.6 b | 152.4 b | 2.8 b | |
| Herbicide | | | | | |
| nontreated | | | | 14.3 a | 13.4 a |
| pyroxsulam ^b | | | | 0.4 b | 0.2 b |
| sulfosulfuron | | | | 0.4 b | 0.2 b |
| Herbicide * cultivar | SD^{c} | GH | | | |
| nontreated | 220.2 a | 198.9 ab ^d | | | |
| pyroxsulam | 221.6 a | 170.2 b | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 171.3 b | 203.4 ab | | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹, sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹, and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table 2.13. Grain yield (kg ha⁻¹) for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Lahoma 2020 | | Lahoma 2021 | |
|-------------------------|----------------|---------------------|----------------|---------|
| | | kg ha ⁻¹ | | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 3,982 a | | | |
| Mid- | 3,409 b | | | |
| Late | 3,155 b | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | | NT | P^b | S |
| Optimal | | 4,576 b | 6,031 a | 6,082 a |
| Mid- | | 4,910 b | 5,101 b | 5,073 b |
| Late | | 2,426 с | 2,223 с | 2,516 с |
| Planting date*cultivar | | $\mathrm{SD^c}$ | | GH |
| Optimal | | 6,029 a | | 5,096 b |
| Mid- | | 5,034 b | | 5,022 b |
| Late | | 2,326 с | | 2,450 с |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹, and nontreated (NT) check. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

Table 2.14. Visual control of *Bromus spp.* eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment for Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| | Burkburnett 2020 |
|----------------------|-------------------------------|
| | % visual control ^a |
| Planting date | |
| Optimal ^b | 62 b |
| Mid- | 63 b |
| Late | 88 a |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

Table 2.15. Wheat, rescuegrass, and downy brome biomass collected at heading (g 0.25 m⁻²) at Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| |] | Burkburnet 2020 | t | Thornberry 2021 | | Burkburn 2020 | ett | |
|-------------------------|-------|---------------------------|-------|-----------------|----------------------|------------------|-----------|-------|
| | | | Wheat | | Rescuegrass | E | owny bron | пе |
| | | | | g (|).25 m ⁻² | | | |
| Planting date | | | | | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | | | | 68 a | | | | |
| Mid- | | | | 35 b | | | | |
| Late | | | | 14 c | | | | |
| Herbicide | | | | | | | | |
| Nontreated | | | | | 8 a ^d | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | | | | | 6 ab | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | | | | | 2 b | | | |
| Cultivar | | | | | | | | |
| Showdown ^c | | 68 b | | | | | | |
| Green Hammer | | 90 a | | | | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | NT | \mathbf{P}^{b} | S | | | NT | P | S |
| Optimal | 44 b | 73 ab | 101 a | | | 91 a | 28 b | 13 bc |
| Mid- | 46 b | 79 ab | 87 a | | | 81 a | 18 bc | 5 c |
| Late | 105 a | 91 a | 85 a | | | 12 c | 3 c | 5 c |

| Planting date*cultivar | SD^{c} | GH |
|------------------------|----------------------------|------|
| Optimal | 43 a | 46 a |
| Mid- | 44 a | 25 b |
| Late | 5 c | 9 c |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹, sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹, and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table 2.16. Winter wheat head counts (0.25 m⁻² quadrat) for Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Burkburnett 2020 | Thornberry 2021 |
|-------------------------|------------------|-----------------|
| - | # of wheat | t heads |
| Planting date | | |
| Optimal ^a | | 35 a |
| Mid- | | 16 b |
| Late | | 9 c |
| Herbicide | | |
| Nontreated | 30 b | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 40 a | |
| sulfosulfuron | 42 a | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹, and nontreated check. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05

Table 2.17. Grain yield (kg ha⁻¹) for Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | | Burkburnett 2020 | | | | Thornberry 2021 | |
|-------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|----------|-----------------------|---------|-----------------|---------|
| | | | | - kg ha ⁻¹ | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | NT | P^{b} | S | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 765 f ^d | 1,386 b | 1,700 a | | | | |
| Mid- | 1,112 cde | 1,366 bc | 1,768 a | | | | |
| Late | 1,202 bcd | 891 ef | 942 def | | | | |
| Planting date*cultivar | SD^{c} | | GH | | SD | | GH |
| Optimal | 1,463 a | | 1,104 bc | | 1,337 b | | 1,691 a |
| Mid- | 1,222 b | | 1,609 a | | 91 c | | 183 с |
| Late | 1,062 bc | | 962 c | | 78 c | | 124 c |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹, and nontreated (NT) check. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05

APPENDICES

Table A.1. Visual control of rescuegrass four to six weeks after herbicide treatment for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall | Marshall | Tipton | Tipton |
|-------------------------|----------|----------|-------------------------------|--------|
| | 2020 | 2021 | 2020 | 2021 |
| | | | % visual control ^a | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^b | 33 b | 48 b | | 46 b |
| Mid- | 50 a | 41 c | | 81 a |
| Late | 38 b | 71 a | | 90 a |
| Herbicide | | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^c | 50 a | 57 a | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 31 b | 50 b | | |
| Cultivar | | | | |
| Showdown ^d | | | 51 b | |
| Green Hammer | | | 58 a | |

| Planting date*herbicide | P^{c} | S | |
|-------------------------|---------|------|--|
| Optimal | 49 b | 36 c | |
| Mid- | 33 с | 33 c | |
| Late | 84 a | 93 a | |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^c Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^d Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

Table A.2. Visual control of rescuegrass at harvest for Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons

| | Marshall 2020 | Marshall 2021 | | pton 020 |
|-------------------------|------------------|------------------|----------------------|-------------|
| _ | | % visual | control ^a | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^b | 67 b | | 9 | 8 a |
| Mid- | 87 a | | 9 | 9 a |
| Late | 82 a | | 9 | 2 b |
| Herbicide | | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^c | 87 a | 83 a | 9 | 4 b |
| sulfosulfuron | 71 b | 75 b | 9 | 9 a |
| Planting date*herbicide | | | \mathbf{P}^{c} | S |
| Optimal | | | 98 a | 98 a |
| Mid- | | | 98 a | 99 a |
| Late | | | 85 b | 98 a |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^c Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

Table A.3. Rescuegrass stand count (0.10 m⁻²) four to six weeks after herbicide treatment at Marshall and Tipton, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall 2020 | Marshall 2021 | Tipton 2020 | | Tipton 2021 | |
|-------------------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|-------|
| | | | 0.10 m ⁻² | | | |
| Planting date | | | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | | 1.0 a | 11.8 a | | 6.0 a | |
| Mid- | | 0.9 a | 3.0 b | | 1.8 b | |
| Late | | 0.4 b | 1.6 b | | 1.6 b | |
| Herbicide | | | | | | |
| Nontreated | 30.4 a | | | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 23.6 b | | | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 32.1 a | | | | | |
| Cultivar | | | | | | |
| Showdown ^c | | | 4.5 b | | | |
| Green Hammer | | | 6.5 a | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | | | | NT | $\mathbf{P}^{\mathbf{b}}$ | S |
| Optimal | | | | 4.4 bc ^d | 8.0 a | 5.5 b |
| Mid- | | | | 1.1 d | 1.8 d | 1.9 d |
| Late | | | | 2.8 cd | 1.0 d | 1.4 d |
| Planting date*cultivar | SD ^c GH | | | | | |

| Optimal | 41.8 b | 52.7 a | | |
|--------------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Mid- | 26.7 с | 26.0 с | | |
| Late | 14.6 d | 10.6 d | | |
| Herbicide*cultivar | | | SD | GH |
| Nontreated | | | 0.7 b | 0.9 ab |
| pyroxsulam | | | 0.4 b | 1.2 a |
| sulfosulfuron | | | 0.9 ab | 0.4 b |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table A.4. Rescuegrass stand count (0.10 m⁻²) eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment at Marshall and Tipton, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Marshall 2020 | Marshall 2021 | Tipton 2020 | Tipton 2021 | |
|-------------------------|----------------------|------------------|----------------|----------------|--|
| | 0.10 m ⁻² | | | | |
| Planting date | | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 39.0 a | 0.5 b | 12.3 a | 3.8 a | |
| Mid- | 25.9 b | 1.3 a | 3.0 b | 2.2 b | |
| Late | 6.6 c | 0.5 b | 4.9 b | 0.7 c | |
| Herbicide | | | | | |
| Nontreated | 26.1 a | | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 26.0 a | | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 19.4 b | | | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

Table A.5. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| | | shall 20 | Mars 20 | | | Tipton 2020 | |
|-------------------------|----------------------------|-------------|------------|-----------|--------|----------------|--------|
| | Wh | neat | | | | | |
| | | | | per 150 g | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | | | | | NT | P^b | S |
| Optimal ^a | | | | | 0.6 a | 0.5 a | 0.06 b |
| Mid- | | | | | 0.6 a | 0.2 b | 0.05 b |
| Late | | | | | 0.08 b | 0.05 b | 0.02 b |
| Planting date*cultivar | SD^{c} | GH | SD | GH | SD | GH | |
| Optimal | 146.4 b ^d | 143.8 с | 3.6 b | 6.3 a | 0.5 a | 0.2 b | |
| Mid- | 148.8 a | 148.1 ab | 1.3 c | 1.9 bc | 0.4 a | 0.2 b | |
| Late | 146.7 ab | 148.3 ab | 3.1 bc | 1.7 bc | 0.06 b | 0.04 b | |
| Herbicide*cultivar | | | SD | GH | SD | GH | |
| Nontreated | | | 3.5 b | 6.4 a | 0.6 a | 0.3 bc | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | | | 0.4 c | 0.3 с | 0.3 b | 0.1 cd | |
| sulfosulfuron | | | 4.1 b | 3.1 b | 0.04 d | 0.05 d | |

^a Optimal planting date represents the recommended window for sowing grain-only wheat in the region. Mid-occurred two to three weeks after the first planting date and late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table A.6. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Marshall and Tipton, OK during the 2020-21 winter wheat growing season.

| | Marshall | Tipton | Marshall | Tipton |
|-------------------------|----------|----------|----------|---------------------|
| | 2021 | 2021 | 2021 | 2021 |
| | Wh | eat | Rescu | egrass |
| | | per | 150 g | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 149.76 a | 149.42 a | 0.22 b | 0.28 b |
| Mid- | 149.56 a | 148.7 b | 0.36 b | 0.65 a |
| Late | 148.51 b | 148.77 b | 0.62 a | 0.25 b |
| Herbicide | | | | |
| Nontreated | | 148.21 b | | 0.61 a ^c |
| pyroxsulam ^b | | 149.32 a | | 0.41 ab |
| sulfosulfuron | | 149.36 a | | 0.15 b |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

 $^{^{\}rm c}$ Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table A.7. Visual control of downy brome and cheat four to six weeks after herbicide treatment for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Lahoma 2020 | Lahoma 2021 |
|-------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|
| - | % visu | al control ^a |
| Planting date | | |
| Optimal ^b | 25 c | 33 b |
| Mid- | 36 b | 38 a |
| Late | 83 a | 90 a |
| Herbicide | | |
| pyroxsulam ^c | 51 a | |
| sulfosulfuron | 44 b | |
| Cultivar | | |
| Showdown ^d | 51 a | |
| Green Hammer | 44 b | |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^cPyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻1. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^d Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

Table A.8. Downy brome and cheat counts (0.10 m⁻²) four to six weeks after herbicide treatment at Lahoma, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | | Lahoma 2020 | | Lahoma 2021 |
|---------------------------|---------------------|----------------|----------------------|----------------|
| | | | 0.10 m ⁻² | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | | | | 7 a |
| Mid- | | | | 2 b |
| Late | | | | 2 b |
| Planting date * herbicide | NT | P^{b} | S | |
| Optimal | 26 abc ^c | 29 ab | 29 ab | |
| Mid- | 15 cde | 20 bcd | 33 a | |
| Late | 11 def | 2 ef | 1 f | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

 $^{^{\}circ}$ Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table A.9. Downy brome and cheat counts (0.10 m⁻²) eight to nine weeks after herbicide treatment at Lahoma, OK for 2019-20 and 2020-21 growing seasons.

| | Lahoma 2020 | | Lahoma 2021 | |
|---------------------------|----------------|----------------------|----------------|-------|
| | | 0.10 m ⁻² | | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 22.0 a | | | |
| Mid- | 7.0 b | | | |
| Late | 6.3 b | | | |
| Herbicide | | | | |
| Nontreated ^b | 21.7 a | | | |
| pyroxsulam | 6.9 b | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 6.8 b | | | |
| Planting date * herbicide | | NT | P^b | S |
| Optimal | | 47.2 a | 3.6 b | 2.9 b |
| Mid- | | 1.9 b | 0.9 b | 0.6 b |
| Late | | 2.1 b | 0.2 b | 0.5 b |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

Table A.10. Winter wheat head counts (0.25 m⁻² quadrat) for Lahoma, OK during the 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Lahoma 2020 | | Lahoma 2021 |
|-------------------------|----------------------------|--------|----------------|
| - | # of wheat heads | | |
| Planting date | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 108 a | | 110 a |
| Mid- | 81 b | | 120 a |
| Late | 86 b | | 63 b |
| Herbicide * cultivar | SD^{c} | GH | |
| Nontreated | 104 a ^d | 90 abc | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 103 a | 78 c | |
| sulfosulfuron | 81 bc | 97 ab | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron at 35.2 g ai ha⁻1, and nontreated check. All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

^d Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table A.11. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Lahoma, OK during the 2020-21 winter wheat growing season.

| | | | Lahoma | | |
|-------------------------|-----------------|----------|----------------|--------|--|
| | | | 2021 | | |
| | И | Theat | | Cheat | |
| | | | per 150 g | | |
| <u></u> | | | — per 130 g —— | | |
| Planting date | | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 14 | 7.95 b | | | |
| Mid- | 14 | 9.27 a | | | |
| Late | 14 | 7.26 b | | | |
| Herbicide | | | | | |
| Nontreated | | | | 1.18 a | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | | | | 0.11 b | |
| sulfosulfuron | | | | 0.07 b | |
| Herbicide * cultivar | $\mathrm{SD^c}$ | GH | | | |
| Nontreated | 148.59 a | 145.80 b | | | |
| pyroxsulam | 148.58 a | 148.34 a | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 148.97 a | 148.68 a | | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents the recommended window for sowing grain-only wheat in the region. Mid-occurred two to three weeks after the first planting date and late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

^c Two winter wheat cultivars (SD: Showdown; GH: Green Hammer) comparing competitive ability with early and late canopy coverage.

Table A.12. Visual control of *Bromus spp*. four to six weeks after herbicide treatment and at harvest for Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| | Burkb 202 | | | |
|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|------|--|--|
| _ | % visual control ^a | | | |
| | Three to four weeks after treatment | | | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^b | 23 | b | | |
| Mid- | 69 a | | | |
| Late | 79 a | | | |
| | Harvest | | | |
| Planting date * herbicide | P | S | | |
| Optimal | 59 c° | 78 b | | |
| Mid- | 82 ab | 89 a | | |
| Late | 88 a | 90 a | | |

^a Visual rating of rescuegrass control on a scale of 0 to 100% as compared to nontreated plots. 0 represents no control, 100 represents complete control.

^b Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

 $^{\circ}$ Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

Table A.13. *Bromus spp.* counts (0.10 m⁻²) four to six weeks after treatment at Burkburnett and Thornberry, TX for 2019-20 and 2020-21 winter wheat growing seasons.

| | Burkburnett 2020 | Thornberry 2021 | | |
|----------------------|---------------------|--------------------|--|--|
| | | | | |
| Planting date | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 207 a | 4 b | | |
| Mid- | 62 b | 5 b | | |
| Late | 9 c | 12 a | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

Table A.14. *Bromus spp.* counts (0.10 m⁻²) eight to nine weeks after treatment at Burkburnett, TX for 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| | Burkburnett 2020 | | |
|----------------------|------------------|--|--|
| Planting date | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 194 a | | |
| Mid- | 103 b | | |
| Late | 13 c | | |

^a Optimal planting date represents optimal window for sowing. Mid occurred two to three weeks after first planting date and Late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

Table A.15. Seed dockage subsamples (per 150 g) at Burkburnett, TX during the 2019-20 winter wheat growing season.

| | Burkburnett 2020 | | | | | |
|-------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-------------|---------|--------|--------|
| | Wheat | Rescuegrass | Downy brome | | | Cheat |
| | | per 150 g | | | | |
| Planting date | | | | | | |
| Optimal ^a | 140.41 b | | | | | 3.26 a |
| Mid- | 137.79 b | | | | | 1.37 b |
| Late | 147.66 a | | | | | 0.79 b |
| Herbicide | | | | | | |
| Nontreated | 136.62 b | 2.41 a ^c | | | | |
| pyroxsulam ^b | 143.63 a | 0.82 ab | | | | |
| sulfosulfuron | 145.60 a | 0.14 b | | | | |
| Planting date*herbicide | | | NT | P^b | S | |
| Optimal | | | 8.64 ab | 0.85 с | 0.43 c | |
| Mid- | | | 12.52 a | 3.81 bc | 1.98 c | |
| Late | | | 0.04 c | 0.04 c | 0.02 c | |

^a Optimal planting date represents the recommended window for sowing grain-only wheat in the region. Mid-occurred two to three weeks after the first planting date and late occurred two to three weeks after second planting date.

^b Pyroxsulam (P) sprayed at a rate of 18.4 g ai ha⁻¹ and sulfosulfuron (S) at 35.2 g ai ha⁻¹ and nontreated (NT). All herbicide treatments were applied using water as the carrier and included a non-ionic surfactant at 0.25% vol/vol and a urea-ammonium nitrate at 30% vol/vol.

 $^{^{\}circ}$ Means within a column for each site year followed by a common letter were similar according to Fisher's protected LSD at P < 0.05.

VITA

Hannah Carol Lindell

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: INTERGRATED MANAGEMENT OF *BROMUS SPP*. IN GRAIN ONLY WINTER WHEAT PRODUCTION OF THE SOUTHERN GREAT PLAINS

Major Field: Plant and Soil Sciences

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Plant and Soil Science at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December 2021.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Agricultural Food Systems at Washington State University, Pullman, Washington in May 2019.

Experience:

2019-2020 – Graduate Research Assistant – Oklahoma State University

2016-2019 - Laboratory, Greenhouse, and Field Assistant - Washington State

University

2015-2016 – Undergraduate Research Internship – Washington State University

Professional Memberships: Western Society of Weed Science Weed Science Society of America American Society of Agronomy Crop Science Society of America